
 

Buckinghamshire Council 

Council 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday 21 September 2022 

Time: 4.00 pm 

Venue: The Oculus, Buckinghamshire Council, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury HP19 8FF 

 
Membership: D Dhillon (Chairman), P Birchley (Vice-Chairman), S Adoh, A Alam, M Angell, 
D Anthony, K Ashman, M Ayub, R Bagge, M Baldwin, D Barnes, S Barrett, P Bass, K Bates, A Baughan, 
J Baum, D Blamires, A Bond, M Bracken, S Broadbent, N Brown, S Bowles, P Brazier, T Broom, 
T Butcher, M Caffrey, R Carington, D Carroll, B Chapple OBE, S Chapple, Q Chaudhry, S Chhokar, 
J Chilver, A Christensen, L Clarke OBE, A Collingwood, M Collins, P Cooper, C Cornell, A Cranmer, 
E Culverhouse, I Darby, T Dixon, M Dormer, P Drayton, T Egleton, C Etholen, P Fealey, M Flys, 
R Gaffney, M Fayyaz, R Gaster, E Gemmell, P Gomm, D Goss, T Green, P Griffin, S Guy, G Hall, 
G Harris, M Harker OBE, C Harriss, D Hayday, O Hayday, C Heap, T Hogg, G Hollis, T Hunter-Watts, 
A Hussain, I Hussain, M Hussain JP, M Hussain, M Hussain, N Hussain, T Hussain, P Irwin, 
Cllr C Jackson, S James, D Johncock, C Jones, J Jordan, S Kayani, P Kelly, R Khan BEM, D King, 
M Knight, S Lambert, S Lewin, J MacBean, Cllr A Macpherson, I Macpherson, F Mahon, N Marshall, 
P Martin, R Matthews, Dr W Matthews, Z Mohammed, H Mordue, S Morgan, N Naylor, J Ng, 
R Newcombe, C Oliver, A Osibogun, A Poland-Goodyer, C Poll, S Raja, W Raja, N Rana, M Rand, 
S Rouse, J Rush, G Sandy, G Smith, L Smith BEM, M Smith, N Southworth, B Stanier Bt, M Stannard, 
P Strachan, R Stuchbury, L Sullivan, D Summers, M Tett, N Thomas, D Thompson, D Town, J Towns, 
A Turner, M Turner, P Turner, G Wadhwa, A Waite, H Wallace, L Walsh, M Walsh, J Ward, J Wassell, 
J Waters, D Watson, A Wheelhouse, W Whyte, G Williams, S Wilson, M Winn, A Wood and K Wood 
 
Agenda Item 
 

Time Page No 
 
1 APOLOGIES   
     
2 MINUTES  3 - 16 
     
3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
     
4 CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE   
     
5 PETITIONS   
     
6 HARMONISATION OF SKIN PIERCING REGISTRATION 

REQUIREMENTS AND MODEL BYELAWS FOR SKIN PIERCING 
ACTIVITIES 

 17 - 30 

     



7 REPORTS FROM CABINET MEMBERS  31 - 76 
     
8 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE FROM MEMBERS  To Follow 
     
9 REPORT FOR INFORMATION - KEY DECISIONS REPORT  77 - 82 
     
10 DATE OF NEXT MEETING   
 Wednesday 30 November 2022 at 4pm 

 
  

 
 
 
If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of a disability, 
please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support in place. 
 
For further information please contact: Ian Hunt - democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 
 



 

Buckinghamshire Council 

Council  
 
 
 

 

Minutes 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON WEDNESDAY 20 JULY 2022 IN THE STREET, THE 
GATEWAY, BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL, GATEHOUSE ROAD, AYLESBURY HP19 8FF, COMMENCING 
AT 4.00 PM AND CONCLUDING AT 7.48 PM 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
D Dhillon (Chairman of the Council), P Birchley (Vice-Chairman of the Council), S Adoh, D Anthony, 
K Ashman, M Ayub, R Bagge, M Baldwin, S Barrett, K Bates, A Baughan, J Baum, D Blamires, A Bond, 
M Bracken, S Broadbent, S Bowles, P Brazier, T Broom, T Butcher, M Caffrey, R Carington, 
B Chapple OBE, S Chapple, Q Chaudhry, S Chhokar, J Chilver, A Christensen, L Clarke OBE, 
A Collingwood, P Cooper, C Cornell, A Cranmer, E Culverhouse, I Darby, T Dixon, M Dormer, P Fealey, 
M Flys, R Gaffney, M Fayyaz, E Gemmell, P Gomm, D Goss, T Green, S Guy, G Hall, G Harris, 
M Harker OBE, C Harriss, D Hayday, O Hayday, T Hogg, G Hollis, T Hunter-Watts, A Hussain, 
M Hussain JP, M Hussain, N Hussain, T Hussain, Cllr C Jackson, S James, D Johncock, J Jordan, S Kayani, 
P Kelly, R Khan BEM, D King, S Lewin, Cllr A Macpherson, F Mahon, N Marshall, P Martin, R Matthews, 
Dr W Matthews, Z Mohammed, H Mordue, S Morgan, A Osibogun, A Poland-Goodyer, C Poll, S Raja, 
W Raja, N Rana, S Rouse, G Sandy, M Smith, M Stannard, P Strachan, R Stuchbury, L Sullivan, 
D Summers, M Tett, N Thomas, D Thompson, D Town, A Turner, M Turner, H Wallace, L Walsh, 
M Walsh, J Ward, J Wassell, J Waters, D Watson, A Wheelhouse, W Whyte, G Williams, S Wilson, 
M Winn, A Wood and K Wood 
 
OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE 
 
 Ms D Brock (High Sheriff of Buckinghamshire) 
 
Agenda Item 
  
1 APOLOGIES 
 Apologies were received from Councillors D Barnes, P Bass, N Brown, D Carroll, M Collins, P 

Drayton, T Egleton, C Etholen, P Griffin, C Heap, I Hussain, P Irwin, C Jones, M Knight, J MacBean, 
I Macpherson, R Newcombe, J Ng, C Oliver, M Rand, J Rush, G Smith, L Smith, N Southworth, B 
Stanier, J Towns, P Turner, G Wadhwa, and A Waite. Apologies were also received from the Lord 
Lieutenant, Lady Howe. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



1A HONORARY ALDERMAN MARGARET ASTON 
 Tribute was paid to a past County Councillor and Honorary Alderman, Margaret Aston, who had 

recently passed away. The Chairman recorded sincere condolences to her family on their sad 
loss. 
 
Mrs Aston had been a Member of Buckinghamshire County Council from 1993 to 2017 
representing the Haddenham and Stone/Haddenham/Bernwood Division and was made an 
Honorary Alderman from 2017.  Some of her appointments during 24 years on the Council 
included:  

• Chairman of the Council 2005-06.  
• Cabinet Member for Children & Young People 2000-2004.  
• Cabinet Member for Community Engagement & Public Health 2016-17.   
• Chairman of Appeals & Complaints Committee 2007-2013.  
• Elected Member rep on the Adoption Panel 1999-2002 and 2005-2013.  

  
Her funeral would take place at the Watermead crematorium at 2.30pm on Thursday 28 July. 
 
Members then observed a minute`s silence in memory of Margaret Aston. 
  

2 MINUTES 
 RESOLVED –  

 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 May 2022 be approved as a correct record. 
  

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 There were none. 

  
4 CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 
 The Chairman paid tribute to Buckinghamshire Fire and Rescue services, who had worked so 

diligently to fight fires in extreme temperatures over recent days. The Chairman further thanked 
NHS and Council staff who had continued to provide vital services to Buckinghamshire residents 
in the challenging temperatures. In addition, the Chairman thanked the Chief Executive and staff 
of the Council as well as host families for the excellent high level of support given to Ukrainian 
guests. 
 
The Chairman reported on the numerous events he had attended and supported since his 
appointment in May. Amongst the many events were a Wycombe Wanderers FC Forum event, a 
number of Platinum Jubilee celebrations including a cake judging ceremony for which the Chief 
Executive of the Council and Lord Lieutenant were thanked for arranging, Armed Forces events 
at RAF Benson and High Wycombe including flag raising ceremonies, a Buckinghamshire Scout 
Beavers event, Leap award ceremony, Horses, Hounds and Heroes (Horses Trust) event, 
MacMillan cancer charity event in South Bucks, Rural Farm Tour, Citizenship Ceremonies, 
Chesham Town Mayor Civic Ceremony, Lord Lieutenant presentation of MBE, Whizz Fizz Fest, 
Desborough Carnival, Queens Veteran Rally in Stoke Mandeville, the official opening of Penn 
Road Cemetery, prize giving ceremony for South Bucks Police Cadets, Simply Walks Annual 
Picnic and the 10th anniversary of the Princes Trust.   
 
The Chairman confirmed that his charity for 2022/23 would be MacMillan Cancer Support and 
he highlighted the excellent support and services MacMillan provided residents and their 
families who were going through cancer treatment. A Golf competition would be hosted at 
South Buckinghamshire Golf Club on 30 September, and other events would include a movie 
night at Pinewood Studios and a Bollywood event, for which dates would be confirmed. 

Page 4



Members were encouraged to attend and make these events a success.   
 
The Vice-Chairman reported that she had attended and supported a number of events including 
a Platinum Jubilee Tea Party at Buckingham Library and numerous Citizenship Ceremonies. The 
Vice-Chairman added that she had met many new Ukrainian guests, securing violin lessons for a 
young person and advanced English courses to assist guests in improving their language skills 
and applying for jobs. The Vice-Chairman also recognised the excellent education providers in 
Buckinghamshire, highlighting an event she had attended at Chiltern Hills Academy to pay 
tribute to their recently retired Head Teacher. 
  

5 PETITIONS 
 There were none. 

  
6 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 
 Council considered a report that requested the Buckinghamshire Council Pay Policy Statement 

2022/23 attached at Appendix 1 be approved.  The Council was required to annually update and 
publish a Pay Policy Statement in accordance with Section 38(i) of the Localism Act 2011. The 
Pay Policy Statement had been considered by the Senior Appointments and Pay Committee on 6 
July 2022, and following approval by Full Council, the Annual Pay Policy Statement and any 
amendments would be published on the website along with details of remuneration of the 
council’s Chief Officers.  The Pay Policy Statement covered all employees. 
 
Members rose to voice concerns over inflation and cost of living costs many staff, particularly 
the lower paid were facing and the 2022 Gender Pay Gap analysis. The Leader highlighted that 
the Pay Policy Statement covered the previous year, rather than the current year and 
acknowledged the rising inflation and cost of living crisis which was one of the reasons that 
those staff paid under £27k would receive an additional pay award for 2022/23. The Leader also 
advised that the deadline for the Gender Pay Gap analysis had been extended so had not been 
included within this report, however when this was available it would be made available in the 
public domain.  
 
The Leader moved the recommendation to approve the Buckinghamshire Council Pay Policy 
Statement (1 July 2022). This was seconded by Councillor T Butcher. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Annual Pay Policy Statement (1 July 2022) be approved. 
  

7 REPORTS FROM CABINET MEMBERS 
 Members received reports from Cabinet Members. There was an opportunity for Members to 

ask questions of individual Cabinet Members about matters and issues affecting their portfolios. 
 
Leader of the Council, Councillor Martin Tett 
The Leader received comments and questions on Welcome Back funding, a Select Committee 
call-in, Enterprise Zones, High Wycombe Local Cycling Walking Infrastructure Plan, Helping 
Hands for Ukraine, Devolution, Strategic Finance and Deprivation in areas of Bucks.  
 
The Leader and Officer team were thanked for making great use of the Welcome Back funding 
for local high streets and it was emphasised that the Council was passionate about supporting 
local businesses and in encouraging residents to get out and make use of their local high streets.  
 
 

Page 5



The Leader acknowledged the Select Committee call-in of the decision taken by Cabinet in 
relation to the Buckinghamshire Sports and Social Club and explained that the decision was re-
considered by Cabinet on 12 July, taking account of the concerns of residents and the Select 
Committee. Cabinet then made its decision having recognised the 5,000 people in need on the 
housing register and it was highlighted that the Council had a moral duty to provide housing and 
opportunities to families to access affordable housing in the county which this site could 
provide.  
 
The Leader spoke of the tremendous success of the Enterprise Zones in Buckinghamshire and 
confirmed that he would be pleased to hold local ward member briefings on the Enterprise 
Zones, and also welcomed any questions Members may have about the zones.  
 
In response to a query on the High Wycombe Local Cycling Walking Infrastructure Plan, for 
which the High Wycombe Community Board had put a great deal of work into and a decision to 
be taken was outstanding, the Leader advised that he would be pleased to look at this and 
welcomed speaking further with the Member who raised the question. 
 
Council gave a round of applause to all those Council employees, as well as staff from the NHS 
and voluntary services who had played such a vital role in supporting the Helping Hands for 
Ukraine scheme. The Leader noted that there would be further challenges ahead as hosts initial 
six-month period of providing housing came to an end.  
 
The Leader explained that due to a number of Minister changes over the past year the 
Devolution Recovery deal was still with Central Government, however work remained underway 
to leverage investment through close partnership working with the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and other business groups which it was hoped would generate good well paid jobs for residents.   
 
The Leader recognised the significant cost pressures of inflation and cost of living and advised 
that Senior Officers had been instructed to operate within the budget set which would mean a 
number of particularly tough decisions would have to be made. The staff pay budget set in 
February 2022 predated the significant inflation rises, and likewise capital programme spend 
had risen to a point that some projects were no longer viable and the Cabinet Member for 
Accessible Housing and Resources was leading on a group to reprioritise projects. Central 
Government had been clear that no further in year funding would be forthcoming. The Leader 
would provide updates within future Cabinet Member reports and Members all had access to 
Cabinet Member decisions as and when they were to be taken.  
 
Lastly, the Leader thanked the local Members for their support with the recent ward visits he 
had undertaken and confirmed that he is happy to meet with leaders of the opposition groups 
as appropriate 
 
Cabinet Member for Accessible Housing and Resources, Councillor John Chilver 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of the Desborough Road 
temporary housing project, ‘Winslow needs green space’ campaign, Chesterfield Crescent 
environment scheme, social housing and Council Tax rebates.  
 
The Cabinet Member reported that the temporary housing project at Desborough Road was a 
great asset to the Council, providing temporary accommodation and reducing costs in costly 
placements. In response to an issue highlighted in respect of the colouring of concrete panels, 
which had been conditioned in the planning permission to be terracotta, the Cabinet Member 
advised that he would speak with officers from property and enforcement and provide a 
response to the Member who raised the question. The Cabinet Member would also advise a 
further member on the date residents would move into the site.  

Page 6



 
In response to a question on opening up green spaces to the public in Winslow, the Cabinet 
Member reported that the Winslow Centre site was to be developed and would include sporting 
provision and affordable housing. Public consultation would commence in the near future. The 
rugby field had been closed due to security and public health concerns, although this position 
was under regular review.  
 
The Cabinet Member spoke of his pleasure of having met local Members and Parish Councillors 
to discuss options at the Chesterfield Crescent site and was currently reviewing the proposal 
from Wing Parish Council for an innovative environment project, on which local Members, the 
community and stakeholders would be consulted on.  
 
A query was raised on the Cabinet Member’s comments regarding the Buckinghamshire Sports 
and Social Club at a recent Cabinet meeting. The Cabinet Member clarified that the report to 
Cabinet confirmed that of those Members who responded, they had been supportive and his 
comments to Cabinet reflected that position.    
 
The Cabinet Member affirmed his commitment to providing affordable housing with schemes 
having been delivered and a number in the pipeline, Tatling End had provided 40% affordable 
housing, whilst further schemes at the Buckinghamshire Sports and Social Club site, Winslow 
Centre and Horns Lane sites were being developed.  
 
The Cabinet Member confirmed that the vast majority of Council Tax rebate payments had been 
paid and that any outstanding would be paid by postal order commencing early August. Any 
future rebate payment processes would be discussed with officers, with likely a similar system in 
place given its success.  
 
Cabinet Member for Communities, Councillor Steve Bowles 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of Community Boards, the 
Town and Parish Charter, and initiatives such as the Helping Hands project. 
 
The Cabinet Member spoke positively of community interaction with Community Boards, with 
successful events having been held and the Boards proving to be an excellent demonstration of 
the Council’s commitment to localism. The Community Boards had delivered a large number of 
projects that had benefitted local communities. Positive feedback had been received from 
applicants for the £1k grant following the application process having been improved. The 
process for full applications had also been reviewed to make it an easy to follow process.  
 
In relation to TfB projects being delivered through Community Boards, Members were advised 
that whilst the new highways contract was under discussion all projects were on hold. The 
Cabinet Member invited Members to email him with individual project concerns.  
 
The Cabinet Member reported that the Town and Parish Charter aimed to strengthen the 
relationship between the Council and Town / Parish Councils and the revised version had been 
approved by Cabinet. The Charter listed the Council’s commitments and it was hoped that 
Towns and Parishes would sign up to the Charter. Members were invited to review the revised 
document when it was issued and contact the Cabinet Member with any queries.  
 
In response to a query on the future of schemes such as Helping Hands, the Cabinet Member 
advised that whilst he could not comment on Government proposals, the funds that had been 
received had enabled the Council to provide support to approximately 12,000 eligible young 
people. The Cabinet Member would take this up with the local MP to lobby on the Council’s 
behalf and was hopeful that the initiative could be extended.  

Page 7



 
Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure, Councillor Clive Harriss 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of play around the parishes, 
play parks, leisure facilities, country parks and the Buckingham skate park.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that he would investigate bringing ‘Play around the Parishes’ 
sessions to the south of the county and he would provide an update to the Member who raised 
the question.  
 
In response to a query on the play park at Prebendal Farm, Aylesbury, the Cabinet Member 
advised that the park was inspected regularly to identify areas in need of attention. A 
programme was being developed to fully refurbish the park at a later date. The Cabinet Member 
would be happy to speak to local residents should a meeting be arranged.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that the Cabinet Member for Accessible Housing and Resources 
was responsible for delivering the ambitious proposals for the Winslow Sports Hub and that he 
too hoped that these would be delivered as soon as possible. 
 
A Member highlighted Buckinghamshire Libraries and Action4Youth having been shortlisted in 
the 2022 Local Government Chronicle Awards for their partnership ‘The Junction Youth Centre’, 
a multi service drop-in centre based in High Wycombe library. The High Wycombe Community 
Board had funded the library refurbishment as well as Action4Youth youth workers and the 
Cabinet Member advised that it was an oversight not to highlight this within the report and that 
the Chairman of the Community Board would be invited to the awards.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that the Country Parks in Buckinghamshire were host to a number 
of activities such as walking programmes and park run and further details were on the Council 
website. The main issues at present were ensuring people swimming in open waters were doing 
so safely and that barbecues were being disposed of appropriately.  
 
Lastly, the Cabinet Member confirmed that he was fully aware of issues affecting the delivery of 
the Buckingham Skate Park, which he wanted to deliver as soon as possible. The appropriate 
communications in respect of this would be put out through the Council’s communication 
channels.  
  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Environment, Councillor Gareth 
Williams 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of south of the county waste 
collections, the Council’s Climate Change Strategy, tree planting schemes, the Solar Together 
Scheme and flood management.  
 
In relation to waste collection in the south of the county, the following points were highlighted: 

- The Cabinet Member placed on record his apologies to residents for the poor 
service they had experienced.  

- Daily meetings had been held with Veolia, the waste contractor, and both the 
Cabinet Member and Leader had met with the Senior Management of Veolia to 
express dissatisfaction with the service and push for improvement.  

- The focus was on getting crews and teams to improve their performance and 
bring the service to a fully operational position. An email address had been set up 
for Members to email in collection issues and the waste team would pick these 
up. There had been a number of unacceptable repeat missed collections and the 
team was supporting in addressing these by providing extra information such as 

Page 8



aerial photographs. 
- As the service returned to business as usual levels, residents were encouraged to 

report missed bins online. The main basis of re-organising the collection rounds 
was so that on occasions of missed collections, Veolia teams would be on an 
adjacent round the following day to return and collect the missed bin. 

- There was a break clause in the contract, although this had costs associated and 
all options would be explored, including insourcing.  

- The Council waste team was thanked for their work under increasing pressure, 
often dealing with irate residents. Assets had been redeployed, management 
staff were taking telephone calls, teams from across the Council were providing 
extra support and Veolia had brought across neighbouring contract crews to 
catch up on weekends.  

- A full review of the issues would be internally conducted. The Transport, 
Environment and Climate Change Select Committee were also welcome to 
scrutinise these issues in further detail.  

 
The interest in the Solar Together scheme was acknowledged and Members were also advised 
of the bid to the LEVI fund to trial a modularised hybrid Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 
(EVCI) solution. The site would be in Wendover and if successful, this installation would 
predominantly use solar photovoltaic canopies with battery storage and intelligent energy 
management technologies to provide power to 12 charge points. It was hoped that the bid 
would be successful and could be rolled out elsewhere dependant on performance.  
 
In relation to reporting progress against the Climate Change Strategy, Members were advised 
that there would be an annual report to Council, which would also be presented to the TECC 
Select Committee. 
 
Daily meetings had been hosted by the Service Director for Communities on the impact of the 
high temperatures over the recent week and it was possible that a report could be produced on 
the impact the high temperatures had on all Council services and to highlight lessons learned.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that he would liaise with the planning team in respect of trees 
being destroyed by developers in Holmer Green, as it was thought that the trees mentioned 
were subject to Tree Protection Orders.  
 
A Member highlighted the need to focus on ‘avoid, reduce, restore’ in addressing carbon 
emissions and the Cabinet Member advised that the focus was increasingly on renewable 
energy in the Council. The Solar Together Programme was focused on the avoidance aspect and 
the Council was working closely with a local charity to use DEFRA funding to encourage 30 of the 
biggest employers in Buckinghamshire to transition to electric vehicles.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that there were various aspects to the Council’s tree planting 
initiative ranging from the planting of single trees on highway verges, through to sites managed 
and planted by the Forestry Commission on an industrial scale. There remained a commitment 
to plant a tree for every resident which required large schemes to improve biodiversity and 
bring flood management benefits.  
 
In response to a concern raised in respect of heavy rain and potential flooding following extreme 
heat, the Cabinet Member reported that partnership working with relevant agencies continued 
to deal with problem sites. Utility companies were also being closely worked with and the Flood 
Resilience Team had visited Buckingham to raise awareness.  
 

Page 9



Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, Councillor Angela Macpherson 
The Cabinet Member advised that whilst she was committed to briefing all members on Adult 
Social Care reforms, the briefing which had been scheduled for the week following this meeting 
would be deferred until Autumn as there remained a great deal of uncertainty and she wanted 
to provide as much clarity as possible on such important reforms.  
 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of smoke free initiatives, 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, dementia, and the Integrated Care System (ICS). 
 
It was noted that the Chairman of the ICS had authored a national review to make smoking a 
thing of the past, and this was acknowledged as an important report currently with Central 
Government awaiting their response. A host of initiatives were underway in Buckinghamshire 
being led by the Public Health team in partnership with the NHS. Disappointingly, smoking had 
increased in young people since the covid pandemic. One initiative that was underway was a 
local school having produced posters to display in their playground which would engage young 
people in the ‘no smoking’ message. There was opportunity for this to be rolled out further, 
potentially through Community Boards. There was also a ‘smoke free sidelines’ initiative 
underway to encourage parents and onlookers at recreation grounds to stop smoking whilst 
children were playing. The Public Health team were also aware of vaping and alternate tobacco 
dangers and were looking at ways to address this.  
 
A Member advised that residents of Berryfields, Aylesbury had, whilst grateful for the new GP 
surgery being developed, expressed disappointment at the lack of pharmacy provision. The 
Cabinet Member advised that the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment which had to be done 
three yearly, was currently out for consultation. This had very strict conditions to follow, 
however residents were encouraged to respond to this online and the Council had formed a 
steering group to take account of all comments and requests which would be reviewed against 
the constraints of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.   
 
In relation to dementia services, the Council had started its own transformation to look at how 
services were provided in close liaison with the Alzheimer’s Society. This work was in progress 
and would be reported back to Council and the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee.  
 
The ICS had been established on 1 July covering Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West. Key to this was collaboration and co-operation across all partners and it was hoped that 
residents would not fall between gaps and the joined up services would make for a smoother 
pathway for people to receive services.  It had been encouraging to note that central 
Government recognised the importance of local Government in delivering the wider 
determinates of public health. There was a particular focus of the ICS to focus on areas of 
deprivation. Mental health, particularly in children would also be a priority of the ICS.  
 
Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s Services, Councillor Anita Cranmer 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of Adult Education courses, 
Ukrainian post-16 education, primary school places and assessment times for children with 
additional needs.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that there were plans to better communicate the courses ran by 
Adult Education. These courses were said to be an excellent tool in the levelling up programme 
and helped young people and adults into employment. Presently around 4,900 courses were 
delivered, covering leisure, special needs, help for those with disabilities and skills training 
courses.  
 

Page 10



In relation to options for Ukrainian guests who would be transitioning into higher education, the 
Cabinet Member advised that she would review this and report back to the Member who raised 
the question. There was an awareness that the Ukrainian Embassy had secured papers for young 
people to sit their exams to qualify for universities in Ukraine in certain circumstances. There 
was also an opportunity to link in with the post 16 education programmes in Buckinghamshire, 
with many schools providing extra tuition out of their own budget either for English or subject 
specific lessons, which could support applying for a place at a UK university, local university 
college, technical school or when looking at taking an apprenticeship on with local businesses. 
Adult Education also tied in with this with many English courses for Ukrainians having 
commenced.  
  
A Member asked why the second form of entry had not yet been activated for the Abbey View 
Primary Academy, High Wycombe as local children were having to be transported to other 
schools in the wider area. The Cabinet Member explained that the admissions procedure and 
funding for each pupil had to be fulfilled, so school places could not be taken away from local 
school admission numbers to provide another year group in the new school. The Cabinet 
Member would share any further information with the Member who raised the question.  
 
The Cabinet Member gave assurance that she would speak to the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire 
and Berkshire West ICS to emphasise the importance of assessing children with additional 
educational needs and providing services in a timely manner. The Cabinet Member spoke of the 
SEND Ofsted inspection which required an improvement plan to be submitted, in which there 
was a focus on waiting lists for assessment which had not been acceptable. The Improvement 
Board, chaired by an independent Chairman was looking at provision in greater detail and it was 
acknowledged that collaboration with partners required improvement.  
 
Cabinet Member for Homelessness and Regulatory Services, Councillor Mark Winn 
The Cabinet Member reported that as part of the Affordable Housing Statement approved by 
Cabinet in May, the Council has undertaken a workshop with local registered housing providers 
to discuss how they and the Council could work together to maximise housing delivery. Officers 
from housing, planning and property attended the workshop and options and opportunities 
moving forward were being reviewed. The Cabinet Member also advised that the Law 
Commission of England and Wales had published its recommendations to reform weddings law. 
The Council had a number of concerns in respect of these proposed changes as amongst a range 
of issues, they could limit opportunity to identify false marriages, require extra resources to 
assess sites, and require further registrar training. Until Government decided on the 
recommendations the service would continue on a business as usual basis.  
 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of rough sleeping, temporary 
accommodation, underage vaping and licensing issues.  
 
In relation to rough sleeping in Buckinghamshire, the Cabinet Member advised that the 
‘everyone in’ and ‘winter refuge’ programmes had come to an end. Rough sleeping numbers 
were volatile and there had been issues such as misbehaviour, seasonal variances and people 
refusing accommodation offered due to a reluctance to claim benefits which had impacted the 
numbers. Each rough sleeper was being targeted by outreach workers who were skilled in 
supporting those with additional needs such as addiction. There was supported accommodation 
available for those high dependency need individuals. The Council would continue to engage 
with rough sleepers to try and prevent homelessness as best it could. The Cabinet Member 
invited Members to contact him with individual cases who may refuse accommodation for 
reasons such as not wanting to return to an environment unsuitable for people with historic 
substance abuse issues so that other accommodation options could be explored.  

Page 11



 
A Member highlighted that a recent Metropolitan and Thames Valley Housing report had 
identified 172 properties within Aylesbury that were vacant. The Cabinet Member advised that 
he would review the report and assess what the Council could do in respect of the properties.  
 
The Cabinet Member acknowledged that underage vaping was an issue and urged Members to 
make him aware of anyone selling vapes to underage people. Work was underway to ensure 
consistent messaging was disseminated and the Deputy Cabinet Member was supporting 
developing a programme to understand how significant of an issue this was in Buckinghamshire 
and put in place steps to address it.  
 
The change in licensing policy to make Town and Parish Councils statutory consultees on 
premises license applications was welcomed, the Cabinet Member encouraged Members to 
contact him with any concerns around individual cases and advised that he could arrange for 
officers to provide training and briefings to Town and Parish Councils. A query was also raised 
around delays in determining licensing applications, the Cabinet Member assured Members that 
he would investigate this, particularly to ensure school transport services were unaffected.  
 
In response to a comment on the Gypsy and Traveller update contained within the report, the 
Cabinet Member advised that the report was factual and there was no hostility to those valued 
members of the community.  
 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration, Councillor Peter Strachan  
The Cabinet Member was pleased to report to Members that the Council was now the most 
active authority outside of London in terms of planning enforcement and 5th overall of local 
authorities in the UK.  
 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of Aylesbury Garden Town, 
High Wycombe BIDCo, and the emerging Local Plan. 
 
The Cabinet Member acknowledged that funding for Aylesbury Garden Town had been 
awarded, although was a reduction on the previous year. The Cabinet Member confirmed that 
he would continue to press for as much funding as possible, not only for Aylesbury Garden Town 
but for each of the planned regeneration projects in the county.  
 
A Member spoke in support of the continuation of the High Wycombe BIDCo for the next five 
year term to deliver business support based initiatives that helped the town centre and its 
businesses thrive.  
 
The Cabinet Member spoke of the importance of supporting local communities when it came to 
developments, particularly with having the right infrastructure in place. In terms of the dates 
noted in the update report in relation to the Local Plan, the Cabinet Member advised that he 
would write to the Member who raised the question to provide clarity. Further, the Cabinet 
Member affirmed the Council intention to prioritise brownfield site developments over 
greenfield. 
 
Cabinet Member for Transport, Councillor Steve Broadbent  
The Cabinet Member was pleased to update Members on gully clearing progress, approximately 
21,200 had been cleared which was approximately a quarter of the way through the 
programme. The Cabinet Member also advised that work was ongoing to bring ultra-rapid EV 
chargers into the county and a bid had been submitted to central Government to install fast 
chargers in car parks.  

Page 12



 
The Cabinet Member received comments and questions in respect of the highways capital 
programme, gully cleansing, EV charging points and moving traffic offences.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised that there were cost and inflationary pressures affecting the 
highways capital programme, bitumen costs were up significantly over recent months as were 
many trace metal materials used in construction. Schemes in the capital programme were being 
kept as flexible as they could to ensure the best value of money was achieved in the current 
circumstances. The £100m investment commitment into highways over four years remained and 
would be shaped to be delivered in the most effective way.  
 
It was clarified that internal combustion engine vehicles should not be using the EV charging 
parking spaces at the Gateway and those non EV users who were using the spaces would be 
given advice to stop.  
 
A Member advised that there had been an ongoing issue with blocked gullies in Hivings Hill, 
Chesham, for which the Cabinet Member advised were receiving special attention as part of the 
larger programme of capital drainage works. An issue was also raised around diversion signs and 
sandbags being left on the highway after works had been completed. The Cabinet Member 
advised that in the last year around 1,250 fixed penalty notices were issued to utility companies 
for a number of reasons including not clearing the highway appropriately. If Members had 
specific areas of concern, they were invited to contact the Cabinet Member with specifics of the 
location.  
 
The rapid EV charging point in Marlow was said to be working well, and the Cabinet Member 
advised that the LEVI bid had been made with an intention to extend this into other areas of the 
county. The 1,000 bays referred to in the EV action plan were off street bays, whilst on street 
work included trialling gully channels and charging from lamp posts.  
 
The Cabinet Member was pleased to advise that the Council had been included in the first 
tranche of authorities to be granted Moving Traffic enforcement powers. A procurement 
exercise was underway for cameras and these would be installed so that enforcement activities 
could commence by the end of the year. There would be a six-month grace period where 
offenders would be given a written warning notice as opposed to a fine. It was highlighted that 
before cameras were moved to a new location there would be a public consultation exercise so 
members and residents would have opportunity to comment on appropriateness of sites.  
  

8 NOTICES OF MOTION 
 Notice of Motion – Reduction of Council’s Own Emissions by 2030 

The following motion had been submitted by Councillor Ed Gemmell and seconded by Councillor 
Adam Poland-Goodyer: 
 
“The Council notes: 
1. On page one of the Council’s Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy it states: 

a. The Council has ‘the objective to achieve net carbon zero for Buckinghamshire as 
a whole by 2050’; and 

b. ‘The council should also evaluate reaching ‘net zero’ for its own emissions no later 
than 2050 and possibly before this, potentially by 2030, subject to resources” 

 
 
 
 

Page 13



The Council believes: 
1. In order to have the possibility to reach net zero for its own carbon emissions by 2030 

and to understand if it has the resources to do this, the council needs firstly to 
understand what needs to be done, and when, in order to reach net zero for its own 
carbon emissions by 2030 and what this is projected to cost. 

 
The Council resolves: 
1. To require council officers to establish what steps need to be taken for the council to 

reach net zero for its own carbon emissions.  
2. To require council officers to provide a comparison identifying when each of the 

established steps would need to be completed to reach net zero for each target (2030 
and 2050) for the council’s own emissions. 

3. To require council officers to estimate the cost of reaching each target, as established in 
1. and 2. of the above resolutions, on a gross basis and on an annual basis. 

4. The information required in 1, 2, 3 of the above resolutions of this motion to be 
presented to the Transport Environment and Climate Change Committee at the planned 
meeting on 8 September 2022. 

5. Thereafter updates on progress against the targets to be provided to the Transport 
Environment and Climate Change Committee in each meeting and an annual update 
provided to full Council.” 

 
Councillor Gemmell briefly explained the rationale behind the Motion, highlighting the past 48 
hours which had seen extreme heat temperatures, resulting in fires, transport disruption and 
increased pressure on emergency services. Councillor Gemmell explained why he believed the 
Council needed to assess the costs involved to make it possible to reach net zero on carbon 
emissions by 2030 and set targets of where the Council expected to be at certain stages, for 
example in six and twelve months and to identify the practical steps that could be taken to 
shape the future, after which it was opened up to debate. 
 
During the debate, Members raised a number of issues as follows: 

- The Buckinghamshire Climate Change Strategy was already committed to reducing 
carbon emissions, with £75k spent on a carbon audit and 60 actions to be implemented 
noted within the strategy, which had significant investment behind it.  

- Other local authorities who had set earlier net zero targets may need to utilise taxpayers’ 
money to purchase carbon offset credits.  

- The Council contributed to 0.3% of carbon emissions in Buckinghamshire, with 31% from 
domestic sources and 20% from businesses, and there was an intention for officers to 
focus on addressing these levels rather than producing numerous reports. The Council 
had already reduced carbon emissions by 61%.  

- The need to keep the net zero target on the local and global agenda, and through 
carrying this motion, it would allow the Council to keep on top of costs, allow officers to 
innovate and keep targets under regular review.  

- Concerns over the cost of climate change on residents, particularly if the net zero target 
was brought forward to 2030, this would affect those who were already affected by cost 
of living rises, inflation pressures and energy price hikes. The importance of bringing 
residents on the journey to net zero was highlighted. 

- Technology was not yet in a position to really push the net zero target forward.  
- The Transport, Environment and Climate Change Select Committee was the right place 

Page 14



for Members to scrutinise the progress made against the Climate Change Strategy. 
- Whilst it was important to lead by example, changes within Buckinghamshire, would 

have little impact on national and global carbon emissions. 
 
In seconding the motion, Councillor Poland-Goodyer spoke of the importance of ensuring the 
Council had all the information it needed to assess whether 2030 was a reachable target and 
what the associated costs would be compared with other targets such as 2040 and 2050.  
 
Following the debate, the motion was voted on by a show of hands, following which, it was 
declared to be LOST.   
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Motion was not carried. 
  

9 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE FROM MEMBERS 
 The written responses to questions from Members, published as a supplement to the agenda, 

were noted. 
  

10 REPORT FOR INFORMATION - KEY DECISIONS REPORT 
 A list of decisions taken by Cabinet Members since the last Full Council meeting on 18 May 2022 

were received and noted. 
  

11 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 The next full Council meeting was scheduled to take place on Wednesday 21 September 2022 at 

4pm. 
  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to Council 

Date:    21st September 2022 

Title:     Harmonisation of skin piercing registration requirements and 

   model byelaws for skin piercing activities 

Cabinet Member(s):  Councillor Mark Winn, Cabinet Member for Homelessness and 

Regulatory Services. 

   Councillor Heather Wallace, Chairman of Licensing Committee 

Author/contact officer:  Ian Snudden 

Recommendations:   

1. To recommend to Full Council: 

1.1 That the Council resolve to adopt the provisions of Sections 14 to 17 inclusive of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) in 

relation to acupuncture, tattooing, ear-piercing and electrolysis to apply to the 

Buckinghamshire Council area and that the resolution comes into effect on 1st 

December 2022. 

1.2 That following the resolution to adopt the provisions of Sections 14 to 17 inclusive 

of the Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1982 (as amended) and 

subject to required provisional approval by the Secretary of State the Council 

resolve to adopt the model byelaws relating to acupuncture, tattooing, semi-

permanent skin colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis which appear at 

Appendix 1. 

1.3 That the Council authorises the affixing of the common seal to the model byelaws 

and authorises the Appropriate Officer to carry out the necessary procedures and 

apply to the Secretary of State for confirmation. 

Reason for decision: These recommendations will harmonise the registration of persons 

who undertake skin piercing activities and premises where skin piercing activities take place 

and create a consolidated set of byelaws in order to provide a consistent level of protection 

to those who use these services across all legacy areas. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 Currently there are different registration regimes and byelaws across the legacy 

areas.  This report seeks Council to pass a resolution for the adoption of sections 14 

to 17 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) 

and to pass a resolution for the adoption of model byelaws for the safe practice of 

acupuncture, electrolysis, ear piercing, tattooing, cosmetic piercing (piercing of the 

body including the ear) and semi-permanent skin-colouring including micro 

pigmentation, semi-permanent make-up and temporary tattooing across the whole 

district. 

2. Content of report  

Resolution to adopt the provisions of Sections 14 to 17 Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions Act 1982 (as amended) (“the 1982 Act”).  

2.1. Currently there is a disparity between the legacy areas in relation to the adoption of 

the provisions of sections 14 and 15 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 which requires registration of businesses and persons who 

perform skin piercing namely tattooing, ear piercing, electrolysis and acupuncture. 

2.2 On 26th July 2022, the Licensing Committee considered a report relating to the 

adoption of these provisions and Members agreed to a resolution to adopt the 

relevant provisions of the 1982 Act with a recommendation that it now be adopted by 

the Council.   The Licensing Committee report of 26th July 2022 sets out in more detail 

the considerations and a link to the report is provided in the key document section of 

this report. 

2.3 As part of a consolidation exercise it is recommended that the provisions of sections 

14 to 17 inclusive of the 1982 Act are adopted across the Buckinghamshire area.  It is 

understood that some legacy areas may also have adopted sections 16 and 17 of the 

1982 Act.  Notwithstanding, this report is based on a recommendation for all sections 

to be adopted for the full Council area all together for ease, consolidation and 

consistency.  It is not considered that a re-adoption would affect the applicability of 

either previous or future matters. 

Adoption of model byelaws 

2.4 The Buckinghamshire area currently has existing byelaws from legacy council areas 

which deal with the hygiene practices and procedures in relation to some or all of 

the practices of acupuncture, electrolysis, ear piercing, tattooing, cosmetic piercing 

(piercing of the body including the ear) and semi-permanent skin-colouring including 

Page 18



 

 

micro pigmentation, semi-permanent make-up and temporary tattooing.  These are 

not however consistent across the whole of the Council area.  

2.5 On 26th July 2022, the Licensing Committee considered a report relating to the 

adoption of a consolidated set of model byelaws and Members agreed to a 

resolution to adopt the relevant provisions of the Act with a recommendation that it 

be adopted by the Council.   The Licensing Committee report of 26th July 2022 sets 

out in more detail the considerations and links to the report and to the consolidated 

set of model byelaws which has been produced by the Department of Health are 

provided in the key document section of this report.  

2.7 It is recommended that all existing byelaws from the legacy council areas in relation 

to semi-permanent skin-colouring and cosmetic piercing, acupuncture, ear-piercing, 

electrolysis and tattooing or related are revoked and replaced by the consolidated 

set of model byelaws for the Buckinghamshire Council area. This will occur as part of 

the making of the byelaws as recommended – please see Appendix 1 

2.8 In order to make the byelaws the statutory process for making the byelaws under 

the Local Government Act 1972 (the 1972 Act) must be followed.  This process 

includes provisional approval by the Government, sealing the byelaws, and public 

notice and inspection requirements followed by confirmation of the byelaws by the 

Secretary of State.   

2.9  We expect there to be sufficient time for the statutory procedure to be completed 

by 1 December 2022 to coincide with the registration requirements.  However, there 

can be delays in the process and if objections are received from the public, the 

confirmation of the byelaws and the date they come into force may be after 1 

December 2022.  In this event the existing byelaws continue to apply until the new 

byelaws come into effect and revoke the existing byelaws.  This will mean that the 

current level of protection will continue until the new model byelaws are in force. 

3. Other options considered  

3.1 Where relevant sections of the 1982 Act have been adopted, it is a legal requirement 

for operators to register with the local authority within which the business operates. 

Each legacy area currently has byelaws to ensure the safe and hygienic practice of 

skin piercing.  However, these don’t all provide for current trends towards cosmetic 

body piercing and the application of semi-permanent skin colouring.  By adopting 

sections 14 to 17 across the whole Council area all aspects of skin piercing will be 

covered by the requirement for registration and any adopted consolidated Byelaws 

will then allow the checks by officers to ensure safe practice.  If sections 14 to 17 of 

the 1982 Act and then the consolidated byelaws are not adopted, then there may be 

Page 19



 

 

some members of the public who would not be adequately protected from 

unregistered businesses. 

3.2 By extending the range of activities that come within the registering regime, greater 

protection from the transmission of blood borne virus infections can be provided and 

improved enforcement provisions adopted.  

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) sets out 

the process for implementation of the registration requirements in sections 14 to 17 

and also sets out the power to adopt byelaws under the Act.  Section 236 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 sets out the process for the confirmation of the byelaws to be 

adopted.   

4.2 The 1982 Act requires a lead in time for the process of the adoption of sections 14 

to 17.  It is recommended that the resolution to adopt sections 14 to 17 of the 1982 

Act comes into force on 1st December 2022.  This will enable sufficient lead in time 

for the publication of public notices in local newspapers over two consecutive weeks.  

4.3 Further details relating to the 1972 Act procedure are as detailed above.  Legal advice 

is that details of all byelaws made are to be included in Schedule 1 of the model 

byelaws (Appendix 1). 

4.4 As the model byelaw would apply to all specified activities with a view to protecting 

anyone who requires skin piercing, there are no known equality or diversity issues.  

4.5  Whilst the adoption and implementation processes for both the requirement to 

register a business and byelaws will incur a cost to the local authority, this will be 

met from within existing budgets. 

5.0  Corporate implications  

5.1 The adoption of full registration requirements and new byelaws covering all aspects 

of skin piercing fits well with Buckinghamshire Council’s Corporate Plan, particularly 

in relation to improving health and wellbeing and reducing the gap in health 

outcomes.  By extending the range of skin piercing activities covered by a registration 

scheme, residents will be better protected from the transmission of blood-borne 

viruses potentially associated with skin piercing.   

6.  Local councillors, community boards consultation & views 

Page 20



 

 

6.1 The recommendations in this report are not specific to any one area in 

Buckinghamshire and so no specific local councillor or community board 

engagement has been carried out. 

7. Consultation and communication  

7.1 If adopted, as well as the statutory requirements such policy changes will be 

publicised on the authority’s web pages and existing businesses notified.  Existing 

skin piercing businesses have already been notified of the potential change in policy 

as part of communication relating to the harmonisation of the registration fees. 

8. Next steps and review  

8.1 If approved by Full Council, the statutory implementation process after adoption of 

the registration requirements will be completed, new registration requirements 

policies will be created/extended pending formal implementation and the statutory 

process for the related byelaws for cosmetic piercing, semi-permanent skin-

colouring, acupuncture, ear-piercing, electrolysis and tattooing will also be 

implemented as detailed within this report and below.   

8.2 At least one calendar month before applying to the Secretary of State for 

confirmation notice of the Council’s intention to apply for confirmation must be 

given in one or more local newspapers circulating in the area to which the byelaws 

will apply. 

8.3 A copy of the byelaws must then be open to the public for inspection at the Council 

offices, without charge, at all reasonable times during that month. 

8.3 An application to the Secretary of State will be made for confirmation of such 

byelaws covering the Buckinghamshire Council area and that once confirmed, 

related existing legacy byelaws will be revoked. 

9. Key documents: 

Appendix 1 Consolidated model byelaws 

 

Report to Licensing Committee of 26th July 2022 (Item 4) 

Agenda for Licensing Committee on Tuesday, 26th July, 2022, 6.30 pm - Modern 

Council (moderngov.co.uk) 

Page 21

https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=349&MId=17570&Ver=4
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=349&MId=17570&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Model Byelaws Acupuncture, tattooing, 
semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic 
piercing and electrolysis 
 

Byelaws for the purposes of securing the cleanliness of premises registered under sections 
14(2) or 15(2) or both of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and 
fittings in such premises and of persons registered under sections 14(1) or 15(1) or both of 
the Act and persons assisting them and of securing the cleansing and, so far as appropriate, 
sterilization of instruments, materials and equipment used in connection with the practice of 
acupuncture or the business of tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing 
or electrolysis, or any two or more of such practice and businesses made by  Buckinghamshire 
Council in pursuance of sections 14(7) or 15(7) or both of the Act. 

Interpretation 

1.—(1) In these byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires— 

“The Act” means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

“client” means any person undergoing treatment; 

“hygienic piercing instrument” means an instrument such that any part of the instrument 
that touches a client is made for use in respect of a single client, is sterile, disposable and 
is fitted with piercing jewellery supplied in packaging that indicates the part of the body 
for which it is intended, and that is designed to pierce either─ 

(a) the lobe or upper flat cartilage of the ear, or 

(b) either side of the nose in the mid-crease area above the nostril; 

“operator” means any person giving treatment, including a proprietor; 

“premises” means any premises registered under sections 14(2) or 15(2) of the Act; 

Page 23

Appendix 



2 

 

“proprietor” means any person registered under sections 14(1) or 15(1) of the Act; 

“treatment” means any operation in effecting acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent 
skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis; 

“the treatment area” means any part of premises where treatment is given to clients. 

(2) The Interpretation Act 1978 shall apply for the interpretation of these byelaws as it 
applies for the interpretation of an Act of Parliament. 

2.—(1) For the purpose of securing the cleanliness of premises and fittings in such 
premises a proprietor shall ensure that— 

(a) any internal wall, door, window, partition, floor, floor covering or ceiling is kept clean 
and in such good repair as to enable it to be cleaned effectively; 

(b) any waste material, or other litter arising from treatment is handled and disposed 
of in accordance with relevant legislation and guidance as advised by the local 
authority; 

(c) any needle used in treatment is single-use and disposable, as far as is practicable, or 
otherwise is sterilized for each treatment, is suitably stored after treatment and is 
disposed of in accordance with relevant legislation and guidance as advised by the 
local authority; 

(d) any furniture or fitting in premises is kept clean and in such good repair as to enable 
it to be cleaned effectively; 

(e) any table, couch or seat used by a client in the treatment area which may become 
contaminated with blood or other body fluids, and any surface on which a needle, 
instrument or equipment is placed immediately prior to treatment has a smooth 
impervious surface which is disinfected— 

(i) immediately after use; and 

(ii) at the end of each working day. 

(f) any table, couch, or other item of furniture used in treatment is covered by a 
disposable paper sheet which is changed for each client; 

(g) no eating, drinking, or smoking is permitted in the treatment area and a notice or 
notices reading “No Smoking”, and “No Eating or Drinking” is prominently displayed 
there. 

(2)(a) Subject to sub-paragraph (b), where premises are registered under section 14(2) 
(acupuncture) or 15(2) (tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and 
electrolysis) of the 1982 Act, a proprietor shall ensure that treatment is given in a treatment 
area used solely for giving treatment; 

(b) Sub-paragraph (a) shall not apply if the only treatment to be given in such premises is 
ear-piercing or nose-piercing using a hygienic piercing instrument. 

(3)(a) Subject to sub-paragraph (b), where premises are registered under section 15(2) 
(tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring and cosmetic piercing) of the 1982 Act, a 
proprietor shall ensure that the floor of the treatment area is provided with a smooth 
impervious surface; 

Page 24



3 

 

(b) Sub-paragraph (a) shall not apply if the only treatment to be given in such premises is 
ear-piercing or nose-piercing using a hygienic piercing instrument. 
 

3.—(1) For the purpose of securing the cleansing and so far as is appropriate, the 
sterilization of needles, instruments, jewellery, materials and equipment used in 
connection with treatment— 

(a) an operator shall ensure that— 

(i) any gown, wrap or other protective clothing, paper or other covering, towel, cloth 
or other such article used in treatment— 

(aa) is clean and in good repair and, so far as is appropriate, is sterile; 

(bb) has not previously been used in connection with another client unless it 
consists of a material which can be and has been adequately cleansed and, 
so far as is appropriate, sterilized. 

(ii) any needle, metal instrument, or other instrument or equipment used in 
treatment or for handling such needle, instrument or equipment and any part of 
a hygienic piercing instrument that touches a client is sterile; 

(iii) any jewellery used for cosmetic piercing by means of a hygienic piercing 
instrument is sterile; 

(iv) any dye used for tattooing or semi-permanent skin-colouring is sterile and inert; 

(v) any container used to hold dye for tattooing or semi-permanent skin-colouring is 
either disposed of at the end of each treatment or is cleaned and sterilized before 
re-use. 

(b) a proprietor shall provide— 

(i) adequate facilities and equipment for— 

(aa) cleansing; and 

(bb) sterilization, unless only pre-sterilized items are used. 

(ii) sufficient and safe gas points and electrical socket outlets; 

(iii) an adequate and constant supply of clean hot and cold water on the premises; 

(iv) clean and suitable storage which enables contamination of the articles, needles, 
instruments and equipment mentioned in paragraphs 3(1)(a)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and 
(v) to be avoided as far as possible. 

4.—(1) For the purpose of securing the cleanliness of operators, a proprietor— 

(a) shall ensure that an operator— 

(i) keeps his hands and nails clean and his nails short; 

(ii) keeps any open lesion on an exposed part of the body effectively covered by an 
impermeable dressing; 

(iii) wears disposable examination gloves that have not previously been used with 
another client, unless giving acupuncture otherwise than in the circumstances 
described in paragraph 4(3); 

Page 25



4 

 

(iv) wears a gown, wrap or protective clothing that is clean and washable, or 
alternatively a disposable covering that has not previously been used in 
connection with another client; 

(v) does not smoke or consume food or drink in the treatment area; and 

(b) shall provide— 

(i) suitable and sufficient washing facilities appropriately located for the sole use of 
operators, including an adequate and constant supply of clean hot and cold water, 
soap or detergent; and 

(ii) suitable and sufficient sanitary accommodation for operators. 

(2) Where an operator carries out treatment using only a hygienic piercing 
instrument and a proprietor provides either a hand hygienic gel or liquid 
cleaner, the washing facilities that the proprietor provides need not be for the 
sole use of the operator. 

(3) Where an operator gives acupuncture a proprietor shall ensure that the 
operator wears disposable examination gloves that have not previously been 
used with another client if— 

(a) the client is bleeding or has an open lesion on an exposed part of his body; or 

(b) the client is known to be infected with a blood-borne virus; or 

(c) the operator has an open lesion on his hand; or 

(d) the operator is handling items that may be contaminated with blood or other body 
fluids. 

 

5. A person registered in accordance with sections 14 (acupuncture) or 15 (tattooing, 
semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) of the Act who 
visits people at their request to give them treatment should observe the requirements 
relating to an operator in paragraphs 3(1)(a) and 4(1)(a). 

 
6.The byelaws listed in schedule 1 are revoked.  

 

 

COUNCIL’S SIGNATURE      COUNCIL’S SEAL 
 
 
The foregoing byelaws are hereby confirmed by the Secretary of State for Health  
on                                and shall come into operation on 
 
 

 

Member of the Senior Civil Service 

Department of Health 

Page 26



5 

 

 
Schedule 1 Revoked Byelaws 

Please list all byelaws to be revoked  

1. The byelaws relating to tattooing which were made by Wycombe District Council on 
9th May 1986 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Social Services on 14th July 
1986 and originally came into force on 1st September 1986. 

2. The byelaws relating to acupuncture which were made by Wycombe District Council 
on 9th May 1986 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Social Services on 14th 
July 1986 and originally came into force on 1st September 1986. 

3. The byelaws relating to ear piercing and electrolysis which were made by Wycombe 
District Council on 9th May 1986 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Social 
Services on 14th July 1986 and originally came into force on 1st September 1986. 

4. The byelaws relating to ear piercing and electrolysis which were made by Aylesbury 
Vale District Council on 25th May 1984 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for 
Social Services on 7th September 1984 and originally came into force on 1st November 
1984. 

5. The byelaws relating to acupuncture which were made by Aylesbury Vale District 
Council on 25th May 1984 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Social Services 
on 7th September 1984 and originally came into force on 1st November 1984. 

6. The byelaws relating to tattooing which were made by Aylesbury Vale District Council 
on 25th May 1984 and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Social Services on 7th 
September 1984 and originally came into force on 1st November 1984. 

7. The byelaws relating to Acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent skin colouring, 
cosmetic piercing and electrolysis which were made by Chiltern and South 
Buckinghamshire Council on 6th of July 2012 and confirmed by the Secretary of State 
for Health on the 6th of June 2014 and originally came into force on the 6th of July 
2014. 

8. Any further byelaws relating to Acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent skin-
colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis made by any of the following councils 
Aylesbury Vale District Council, Chiltern District Council, South Buckinghamshire 
District Council and Wycombe District Council in relation to any part of the 
administrative area of Buckinghamshire Council before 1 April 2020. 

  

Page 27



6 

 

 

NOTE – THE FOLLOWING DOES NOT FORM PART OF THE BYELAWS 

Proprietors shall take all reasonable steps to ensure compliance with these byelaws by 
persons working on premises.  Section 16(9) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 provides that a registered person shall cause to be prominently displayed 
on the premises a copy of these byelaws and a copy of any certificate of registration issued 
to him under Part VIII of the Act.  A person who contravenes section 16(9) shall be guilty of 
an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard 
scale (see section 16(10)). 

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 also provides that 
any person who contravenes these byelaws shall be guilty of an offence and liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.  If a person 
registered under Part VIII of the Act is found guilty of contravening these byelaws the Court 
may, instead of or in addition to imposing a fine, order the suspension or cancellation of the 
person’s registration.  A court which orders the suspension of or cancellation of a person’s 
registration may also order the suspension or cancellation of the registration of the premises 
in which the offence was committed if such premises are occupied by the person found guilty 
of the offence.  It shall be a defence for the person charged under the relevant sub-sections 
of section 16 to prove that he took all reasonable precautions and exercised all due diligence 
to avoid commission of the offence. 

Nothing in these byelaws extends to the practice of acupuncture, or the business of tattooing, 
semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis by or under the supervision 
of a person who is registered as a medical practitioner, or to premises in which the practice 
of acupuncture, or business of tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing 
or electrolysis is carried out by or under the supervision of such a person. 

Nothing in these byelaws extends to the practice of acupuncture by or under the supervision 
of a person who is registered as a dentist, or to premises in which the practice of acupuncture 
is carried out by or under the supervision of such a person. 

The legislative provisions relevant to acupuncture are those in section 14.  The provisions 
relevant to treatment other than acupuncture are in section 15. 

The key differences in the application of requirements in respect of the various treatments 
are as follows: 

The references in the introductory text to provisions of section 14 (acupuncture) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 only apply to acupuncture. 

The references in the introductory text to provisions of section 15 (tattooing, semi-permanent 
skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 do not apply to acupuncture. 

The references in paragraph 1(1) in the definition of “premises” to provisions of section 14 
(acupuncture) only apply to acupuncture. 

Page 28



7 

 

The references in paragraph 1(1) in the definition of “premises” to provisions of section 15 
(tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) do not apply 
to acupuncture. 

The requirement in paragraph 2(2) that treatment is given in a treatment area used solely for 
giving treatment applies to acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, 
cosmetic piercing and electrolysis but not to ear-piercing or nose-piercing using a hygienic 
piercing instrument. 

The requirement in paragraph 2(3) that the floor of the treatment area be provided with a 
smooth impervious surface applies to tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring and 
cosmetic piercing but not to acupuncture or electrolysis or ear-piercing or nose-piercing 
using a hygienic piercing instrument. 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Cabinet Member report – Leader 
Councillor Martin Tett  

 

 
 

 Condolences on the death of Her Majesty 
 

It is with deep sadness we mourn the loss of Her Majesty the Queen. We send our deep 
condolences to the Royal Family on behalf of the residents of Buckinghamshire and share the 
tremendous sense of sorrow with our residents. 

 
We express gratitude for Her Majesty’s life of dedication and service to the British people and 
pledge our allegiance to King Charles III. 

 

Long Live the King. 
 

 Cost of Living Pressures 

This is likely to be a key issue in residents’ minds as we move towards the winter months. Everyone 
is reviewing and adjusting household budgets and for many people we know the financial pressures 
could tip them into significant hardship. 

Building on our Helping Hand programme, we are continuing to develop the help and advice 
available for residents to support them with the rising cost of living, including. 

 Those most in need are able to access financial and practical help via our Helping Hand 
programme and have easy access to other sources of support available to them. 

 In partnership with the Heart of Bucks, we have launched a Crisis appeal which will provide 
funds to help those Buckinghamshire families that need it most. 

 We are issuing vouchers to 8,000 pensioners in Buckinghamshire who are in receipt of Council 
Tax reduction or who have previously been supported by Helping Hand. If you need to contact 
the Helping Hand team, please call 01296 531 151 or by using our online contact form. 

 ‘Welcoming Spaces’- We will be joining forces with other organisations across Buckinghamshire 

to create a network of welcoming spaces this winter, to assist when the weather turns colder. 

We will open our libraries and will provide a warm, welcoming and supportive space for anyone 

who needs it. 

 

For those who are in a position to help others, we are also promoting opportunities, including: 

 Donating to the Heart of Bucks Crisis appeal

 Donating to foodbanks

Page 31

Agenda Item 7

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenews.buckinghamshire.gov.uk%2F5438-FBM1-30S0KQ-HHCFF-1%2Fc.aspx&data=05%7C01%7CGail.Hudson%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7C4ad9f8c26cb047704a5608da931cdc80%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637984049414639455%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=viEngWtvO%2Blac1FF0OV%2F7mR9TNM9%2BewPmWEuS2LeoO0%3D&reserved=0


 

 Volunteering to support key organisations such as Citizens Advice Bureau who are providing 
valuable services to those experiencing difficulties.

 
We will be adding more to this support package in the coming months and will update our website 
as we information becomes available. Support with food, bills and finances (Helping Hand) | 
Buckinghamshire Council 

Further details are also available in the report from the Cabinet member for Communities. 
 
 

 Strategic Finance 

The Q1 budget monitoring position was taken to Cabinet on 8 July, and this showed an adverse 
position of £3.8m which is mainly due to the implications of inflation on energy and the pressure 
being managed in Adults and Health and Children’s Services with rising demand and additional cost 
due to complexity and market. It is still early in the year, but we will continue to press for ways in 
which we can find mitigations to bring spend back into line with the approved budget. 

The Medium-Term Financial Planning process for the next four years has begun. This is likely to be a 
very difficult budget-setting process due to the uncertainties around inflation levels and length, 
future government funding levels and the implications of the cost-of-living crisis on spend and 
income levels. Cabinet Members are actively reviewing their current budgets and considering 
options to address the financial challenges that the current position will pose. Cabinet Members are 
looking at and challenging underlying pressures, examining new options and looking for extra 
savings and efficiencies to help balance the budget. 

 
 

 Levelling Up 

We are addressing disparity and ‘levelling up’ here in Buckinghamshire through our ‘Opportunity 

Bucks’ programme which was launched yesterday (20 September). The programme focusses on ten 
key wards in three areas; parts of Aylesbury, High Wycombe and Chesham, where outcomes for 
residents aren’t as good as in other parts of Buckinghamshire. Overall, this programme provides a 
framework for bringing partners together to focus our collective resources on tackling those local 
priorities that will make a difference to the outcomes of residents in these areas. 

I have recently visited these wards, spending time in High Wycombe and Aylesbury in June, seeing 
first-hand the issues that we would like to address. We will do this by working with local 
communities, partners and the Community Boards to develop local action plans. 

 
 

 Helping Hand for Ukraine 

The government recently announced that over 100,000 refugees have come through the Homes for 
Ukraine Scheme, and we are still seeing arrivals coming to our county even now, some six months 
after the conflict began. Over 680 hosts now offer accommodation with 1,717 Ukrainian guests 
stating Buckinghamshire as their destination on their visa applications (data correct as of 18/08/22). 

The council is continuing to work hard to make sure the families can access schooling, work, 
finance, practical items, English language lessons and emotional support through its Helping Hand 
for Ukraine scheme – to find out more, please check the dedicated pages on our website. 

Over the last month we recognised Ukraine Independence Day on 24 August as with those 
impacted people reflecting on their personal journey and loss. The summer break also brought the 
challenge of keeping our younger guests occupied and this year we have been able to offer free 

Page 32

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/housing-and-benefits/support-with-food-bills-and-finances/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/housing-and-benefits/support-with-food-bills-and-finances/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/helping-hand-for-ukraine/


 

holiday activities and food via the HAF scheme and Boredom buster bags from our partners LEAP to 
keep them busy. 

The Council also hosted its first employment fair for Ukrainian guests in July and as a result the 
Council has employed two further Ukraine guests. Another employment fair is taking place on 28th 
September at The Hub in High Wycombe. We continue to work with our voluntary sector colleagues 
and local community groups, now with an eye on the new challenges coming up and what happens 
at the six-month point especially for those families that have settled into communities and schools. 
We continue to lobby central government on this issue; I recently met with Lord Harrington, who at 
the time of our meeting, was the Minister of State for Refugees, to discuss this very difficult 
situation. We will continue to look at solutions for ongoing support for these families, which will 
require all tiers of government, the private and voluntary sector to work together. 

Some refugees have now been living with their host families for six months and are starting to look 
for their own longer-term accommodation and like many are facing high rents across the southeast 
region making finding affordable housing difficult. The impact on both hosts and guests is already 
evident so we are working with central Government to make sure Bucks’ residents’ voices are heard 
and that tangible, long-term solutions are found, and we can continue to support both our 
residents and our guests. 

I’m sure we are all proud of the tremendous efforts made by our staff, and our partners, to mobilise 
and maintain our local response at such a rapid pace. We now have over 150 of the council’s own 
staff in sponsor liaison roles, in addition to their day jobs, who keep regular one to one contact with 
sponsor households. This targeted wrap around support remains critical to making sure that 
refugees continue to be supported as they set up a new life here in Buckinghamshire. 

 
 

 Devolution and Recovery Deal 

In light of the changes in central government with a new Prime Minister and Cabinet we are 
continuing to lobby on our own County Deal proposal that we can submit to Government as soon as 
possible. We are reviewing our Recovery and Growth deal proposition to ensure that our County 
Deal complements Government’s Levelling Up White Paper framework for devolution. We are still 
seeking an enhanced level 2 deal to reflect our strong local partnership and desire for greater local 
devolution. This type of deal would give us the greatest level of freedoms and flexibilities, without 
requiring introduction of new layers of governance such as through an elected mayor or leader. 

 
 

 Buckinghamshire Growth Board 

The next Buckinghamshire Growth Board meeting is scheduled for the last week in September. The 
Board and its partners have endorsed the Buckinghamshire Strategic Vision for 2050. The board is 
keen to see strategies that support the county’s many businesses that provide the backbone to 
Buckinghamshire’s economy. 

Following the publication of the Levelling Up White Paper discussions have begun around LEP 
integration locally. The LEP, Bucks Business First and the Council are working on a new combined 
Board and will continue to engage with Government to secure an early commitment to a County 
Deal, which also need to include plans for LEP integration. 

The Buckinghamshire UK Shared Prosperity Fund implementation plan has been submitted to 
Government. Buckinghamshire’s funding allocation is extremely small (£5.77M over three years) so 
we have identified a small number of priorities for focus of the fund locally. Our priorities cover 
community measures to support cost of living, supporting local business growth and employment 
for support for economically inactive people, whilst seeking to support local levelling up priorities. 

Page 33



 

We expect our plan to be approved in the coming months which will enable us to start delivering. 
We are working up the approach that will bring forward a range of projects to deliver 

Levelling Up Fund Round 2 bids have been submitted to government. Six bids (five constituency 
and one transport) were submitted after Government moved the deadline from the 6th of July to the 
2nd of August due to issues with the online application portal. Outcomes will not be known until the 
Autumn, but MPs were supportive of all our bids. It should be remembered that Buckinghamshire is 
a category three area and thus deemed lowest priority to benefit from this headline government 
funding stream. 

 
 

 Buckinghamshire Local Enterprise Partnership (BLEP) 

As mentioned above the Council and the LEP are working in partnership to develop a new model for 
economic governance in the county. It will enable Buckinghamshire to bring together programme 
funding with investment, to accelerate growth in the county. The suggested plan encompasses the 
broader aspects of the LEP’s agenda: digital support, monitoring of capital programmes and 
planned core team activity in the coming year. 

At the LEP Board on 22 July 2022 members noted the work of the Skills Advisory Panel looking at 
the ability to link high growth areas with areas of deprivation. The work will follow the successes 
seen in Buckinghamshire as a result of the Kickstart programme. 

I also attended the Westcott Space Expo on 28 July which showcased the investment that has taken 
place at Westcott, the unique nature of the facilities and capacity offered at the site, the cluster 
continuing to grow, covering design, applications, and testing. 

 
 

 Support to Buckinghamshire Businesses and Aylesbury Enterprise Zone update 

Review and monitoring of our Enterprise Zones remains imperative to supporting businesses in 
Buckinghamshire. The Enterprise Zone Memorandum of Understanding between the LEP and 
Buckinghamshire Council has been finalised for the next five-year period. The Bucks LEP is still 
required to report to Government on progress with the Enterprise Zone programme so structured 
and comprehensive reporting will continue. 

We have also been supporting Buckinghamshire businesses through Government’s Community 
Renewal Fund where Bucks Business First were successful in securing funding to deliver a project 
focussed on supporting the Visitor Economy sector. This project is helping businesses and 
employees to accelerate the sector’s recovery since the pandemic. 

 
 

 
 Growth, Infrastructure & Housing Select Committee 

The Growth, Infrastructure & Housing Select Committee met on 13 July with the agenda focussing 
on the Visitor Economy in Buckinghamshire. A report examined how the Visitor Economy fits into 
the Council’s broader approach to economic development and ways to develop it further. As the 
Council looks to develop a Visitor Economy strategy, members will be involved in reviewing the 
opportunities and potential areas of development and investigate how the Council can work 
effectively with partners to attract more visitors to Buckinghamshire. 

Page 34



 

 Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) 

Projects using the Housing Infrastructure Fund have had mixed fortunes in the past few months. 
The significant issue has been the continuing escalation in costs that are affecting construction 
projects across the world. It was for this reason, along with concerns about the scheme’s impact, 
effectiveness and overall value for money that has resulted in the council halting the Abbey Barn 
Lane Improvement Scheme in High Wycombe. With a large shortfall in the budget available and the 
continued risk of further cost rises the council has had to make hard choices about its priorities. The 
Council is currently discussing the HIF programme and inflationary impact on associated projects 
with Homes England to explore funding options. 

In July, the Council submitted a planning application to progress the first stage of the Princes 
Risborough Southern Road Link. The PRSRL scheme is the first of three phases of the Princes 
Risborough relief road – which is a key piece of infrastructure to support the planned expansion of 
the town. Further information is available here. 

Also, in July the Council entered a contract with the Canal and Rivers Trust to provide the missing 
link in the towpath upgrade on the Aylesbury Arm of the Grand Union Canal to create a wider, 
Active Travel route into and out of the town centre. The route is 1.1km / 0.7 of a mile long 
between lock 15 (near Victoria Park) and Bridge 15 (where the canal goes under Broughton Lane). 
Work is due to start in September and will take approximately 14 weeks. 

Kingsbrook secondary school is nearing completion on 
time, and under budget, despite all the challenges that 
Covid and supply chain issues have caused. We are 
looking forward to a formal opening event at the end 
of September, and more information will be provided 
in press releases in due course. 

 
 
 
 

 South East Aylesbury Link Road (SEALR) Update 

There is significant financial pressure on the project due to increasing costs as a result of inflation as 
well as other factors. The Secretaries of State confirmed the CPO/SRO/open space orders on 31st 
March 2022. All licence agreements have been put in place to enable vegetation clearance work as 
well as archaeology work to facilitate the UKPN diversion works. The Council also took possession 
of a number of parcels of land under the CPO powers at the end of July. 

A recent decision has been taken to allow elements of early work to progress including the ordering 
of the significant Thames Water diversion work at the Wendover Road end of the project, land 
acquisition costs, site accesses and 1km of haul roads. The haul roads are to allow the UKPN and 
contractor (Galliford Try) construction vehicles to access the site to drill under the railway and 
install the c1.2km of ducting for the electricity cables. There are also other utility diversions on both 
Lower Road and Wendover Road. 

Discussions continue with HS2 regarding the bridge assurance, use of materials for the 
embankment, Phase 2 land and flood mitigation requirements for both Stoke Mandeville Relief 
Road and Phase 2. The latter is currently delaying design work and the Phase 2 planning application. 
The application is currently expected to be submitted at the end of September. 

Page 35

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/road-and-infrastructure-projects/view-road-projects-in-development/new-road-princes-risborough-southern-road-links-prsrl/


 

 England Economic Heartland (EEH) 

England’s Economic Heartland continues to work with national agencies and local authorities to secure 
investment in the region’s transport infrastructure priorities. EEH’s connectivity study between Oxford 
and Milton Keynes is due to be published shortly and will be available on the EEH website. EEH has also 
submitted a response to the Department for Transport consultation on rail 
reform – in particular, this called for formal recognition of the role of sub-national transport bodies such 
as EEH in determining rail priorities in the region. Work is also ongoing, in conjunction with the East West 
Main Line Partnership, to make the strongest case for East West Rail’s delivery in full to Cambridge, 
including the link to Aylesbury. 

England’s Economic Heartland’s annual conference is being held in Milton Keynes on 16 November. 
Interested parties can register to attend via the link on the EEH website. 

 
 

 South East Strategic Leaders (SESL) – 

In June, Leaders received a detailed letter from Lord Harrington (Minister of State for Refugees) in 
response to their letter setting out ideas on how central and local government can work together to best 
support Ukrainian refugees. 

Senior officers from SESL member authorities have worked with consultants commissioned by SESL to 
explore what levelling up and devolution mean for the wider South East. 

SESL has taken the opportunity to consider refreshing its work programme, reflecting the changing 
economic circumstances and evolving priorities for communities across the wider South East. 

Page 36



Cabinet Member report – Accessible Housing and 
Resources 
Councillor John Chilver  

 

Resources Update 
 

MK Job Show – September 2021 
 

• 14 Buckinghamshire Council employees volunteered 
from HR & OD, Adult Social Care, PGS, Digital, and 
Children’s Social Care to attend the MK Job Show to 
showcase the careers and opportunities across the 
Council 

• 63 CVs collected and followed up by the Resourcing 
team – candidates with a variety of backgrounds and 
experience levels, interested in roles including 
Customer Care, Legal, Apprenticeships, Teaching, 
Finance, IT, Planning, Social Care, and many more… 

• 217 sign-ups to Buckinghamshire Council job alerts 
 
Feedback from event attendees - provided by MK Job 
Show 
 
‘I would definitely recommend attending the MK Job 
Show. There was a wide variety of employers to talk to 
which appealed to all age groups. It was really good 
talking to people face to face as this gave me a good 
feel for the different organisations and the staff who 
work there.’ – event attendee 

 

Page 37



Homes For Ukraine Information & Recruitment Event 
 

• 65 CVs collected and followed up by the Resourcing 
team  

• Positive feedback received from both attendees and 
partners 

• 3 Ukrainians as a result of this event have secured 
permanent employment to date with others at 
interview stage. 
 

 

Hybrid Digital Post Room 
 
Work is progressing well in implementing a hybrid digital post room as part of the Work Smart 
Programme. The project, which is due to go live in October 2022, supports the ambition to drive 
efficiency through the use of modern technology which will allow staff to both receive and send mail 
items in a digitally enabled way. The new post room will deliver savings, will deliver reduced carbon 
emissions from reducing the need to travel into the office and deliver a modern way of working that 
moves away from a reliance on paper.  
 
The new 
hybrid digital 
post room will 
be managed 
and delivered 
by the Corporate Business Support team from a single central location at Walton Street. All inbound 
mail (for the main offices) will be delivered to Walton Street where it will be opened, sorted and 
where approximately 80% of it will be scanned to create digital files. These will then be shared with 
the relevant recipient or team via SharePoint alongside an email alert. A traditional post room 
function will be retained for items delivered that cannot be scanned. 
 
Currently all services deal with their own outbound mail, with the post room teams only dealing 
with the final elements of the process. When the new system goes live, officers will simply send their 
outbound item electronically to the digital post room where the jobs will be prioritised, printed, 
folded, and inserted into envelopes with minimal human intervention. This new system can deal 
with a single letter to a resident through to large scale mailouts of thousands.  
 

Revenue & Benefits Phase 2 
 
We currently use 3 Revenues and Benefits software systems covering different geographical areas 
within Buckinghamshire and this phase 2 project involves merging all three systems into one, that’s 
over 20 million items. 
 
A single unified system will: 

• mean a more efficient and consistent service to council tax payers, benefit recipients 
and business rates payers 

• provide a range of self-service options 
• allow customers to access, check and update their details quickly 

 
During the upgrade we have had to close our systems down for a period of time to allow for all the 
information to be moved across to the new system, but the majority of residents will not be 

Based on an audit carried out earlier in the year we estimate that the council 
deals with 137,000 inbound items of mail and 860,000 outbound items. This is 
a decrease of about 40% compared to pre-pandemic levels, so this builds on 
the trend to move to digital methods of communications and transactions.   

Page 38



impacted as benefit payments will be made as normal and council tax collected on the normal Direct 
debit dates. 
 
The systems will be closed: 
• for former Chiltern and South Bucks district areas from Monday 15 August 2022 
• for former Aylesbury Vale and Wycombe district areas from Thursday 22 September 2022 
 
The new single system is expected to be available from Thursday 27 October 2022. 
 
During this period online forms will be available so citizens can tell us about changes to their 
circumstances and make requests to the service and we will continue supporting vulnerable 
customers and those who are less able to self-serve. 
 
For any resident who needs to contact us please do so as we are available to take calls as normal and 
if a resident is in hardship we can help with emergency payments. 
 
We will process requests and reply to emails in date order once we are able to do so at the 
beginning of November 2022, we’ve brought in 14 additional resources to help clear the backlog by 
the end of January 2023. 

 

Property & Assets Update 
 

Expansion works 
Working collaboratively with other Portfolios including Education, Culture and Leisure, Planning and 
Regeneration and Housing and Regulatory Services, we have continued to deliver against our 
significant and substantial capital programme. 

 
We have completed works at 
Misbourne School with the Council 
issuing Practical Completion July 
2022. This project delivered a new 
sports hall, and new additional car 
and coach parking.  
 
 

Amersham School expansion delivered a new classroom and science 
blocks, a new reception area, a dining area and staff car park. 
 
The new Kingsbrook Secondary School with SEN provision has also made 
good progress with programmed completion now due in September 
2022. 
 

Major expansion works continue at 
Chiltern Hills Academy to deliver an 
expansion including a new fit for 
purpose science block.  
 

Misbourne School 
Misbourne School 

Amersham School 

Page 39



Finally, work at the Chilterns Lifestyle Centre continues to progress following 
the demolition of the old Leisure Centre and ancillary buildings. This has seen a 
continuation of external works including the new car parks, hard and soft 

landscaping and external play areas being 
delivered with phase 1 of the car parking open 

to the public on 25 July.  
 

Future High Streets Regeneration Programme 
The Council’s Future High Streets 
(‘FHS’) regeneration programme for 
High Wycombe is progressing. 
Refurbishment of the first of the 
vacant shop acquisitions, 37 High St, 
is due to complete in September 
2022. Tenants are lined up to occupy. 
Refurbishment of a second vacant 
shop acquisition, 16 Church St, will 
also commence in September 2022.  

37 High St: Before       After 
 

Chiltern Hills Academy 

Chiltern Lifestyle Centre car park 

Page 40



Cabinet Member report – Communities 
Councillor Steve Bowles 

 
 
Helping Hand 
During the period 1 April – 30 June, utilising the Government Household Support Fund, the 
Helping Hand team managed 4696 support requests from 1780 residents. These included 
over 2,280 food support requests, 834 fuel vouchers issued for pre-payment meters plus 
many other services offered to support with other furniture, school uniform, clothing and 
hot meals. In addition, the Helping Hand Fund, managed through Heart of Bucks, provided 
over £153,261 of grant support to help households in financial hardship with issues such as 
utility debt. 
 
The Household Support Fund that covers the period 1 April to 30 September 2022 also 
enabled over £650,000 of support to be provided to families eligible for Free School Meals 
and Early Years support during the summer holidays and will be funding support to over 
8,200 pensioner households who are in receipt of Council Tax reduction or who have been 
supported by the Helping Hand team. During August and early September these pensioners 
will receive a post office letter with £90 voucher that can be cashed at their local post office 
to assist them with their household bills/food. 
 
We are currently awaiting details from Government regarding the next round of Household 
Support Fund which will cover the period 1 October to 31 March 2023. We will be working 
up plans to ensure we can use this money in collaboration with our VCSE partners to 
support those in most need during the challenging months ahead. 
 
We continue to develop activities through the Financial Insecurity Partnership to improve 
the financial vulnerability of residents and on the 16 September as part of our #BackonTrack 
campaign, we will be hosting a return to work support event at the Wycombe Library. There 
will be a number of partners who will be present who can provide tailored advice and 
support to residents from CV writing to providing tips on interview techniques. 
 
With the cost of living crisis, now more than ever, its time to pull together and rely on the 
generosity of others to offer a helping hand to those that need it most.  We are really proud 
to once again be partnering with Heart of Bucks to support and promote their Crisis appeal 
which will help Buckinghamshire families in need. TotalGiving™ - Crisis Appeal for 
Buckinghamshire - Heart of Bucks - Fundraising Page.  We are also working with our 
partners to pull together advice and support and will add more information onto our 
website as it becomes available. Our partners also have lots of valuable information on their 
websites. 

Page 41

https://www.totalgiving.co.uk/appeal/bucks-crisis-appeal
https://www.totalgiving.co.uk/appeal/bucks-crisis-appeal


Bucks Data Exchange 
On the 6 September I had the pleasure of attending the launch of the Bucks Data Exchange. 
The Bucks Data Exchange brings together data and resources about the local area and its 
population. It will provide an unprecedented opportunity for the voluntary and community 
sector to use solid data on the needs of local people to make strategic decisions and 
investments. 
  
This platform, built by Aylesbury based agency Framework Digital, is the result of months of 
hard work and collaboration between the Rothschild Foundation, Buckinghamshire Council, 
Leap, Heart of Bucks, Buckinghamshire’s Local Enterprise Partnership, Thames Valley’s 
Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Bucks VCSE Partnership Board. 
  
On the free to access website, visitors can view data on population, carbon emissions, 
recycling rates, broadband speeds, life expectancy, rates of smoking, community safety and 
much more. The published data is the most recent available, focuses on Buckinghamshire 
and is aggregated so it contains no personal information. 
 
Project organisers are encouraging charities, community organisations and anyone with an 
interest in Buckinghamshire to visit the Bucks Data Exchange website, sign up for updates 
and follow the Bucks Data Exchange online.  The platform will continue to develop, and 
more data will be added. www.bucksdataexchange.org  
 

Safe Spaces web portal now live on the Buckinghamshire Council website 
The online Safe Spaces web portal to support people experiencing domestic abuse is now 
live on the Buckinghamshire Council website.  Online Safe Spaces, is operated by Hestia as 
part of their UK SAYS NO MORE campaign. It is a discreet portal that opens in a pop-up 
window from Buckinghamshire Council’s website. The portal provides support, advice and 
helpful contact numbers for those at risk of domestic abuse. It leaves no internet history 
trace and provides quick exit options for the person seeking information. 
To access the portal, simply click on the Safe Spaces logo, which can be found on the footer 
of every page of Buckinghamshire Council’s website. 
 
Community Safety supports the fight against fly-tipping. 
New 'smart cameras' have been installed in fly-tipping hotspots which can identify when a 
person or vehicle is leaving rubbish behind.  In real time, they can provide a video report of 
the incident to enforcement officers, including the registration of the vehicle, making it 
easier to identify and prosecute fly-tippers.  It means CCTV operatives will no longer have to 
trawl through hours of footage to try and identify the offender.  The cameras have been 
funded by the Department for Environment, Farming & Rural Affairs.  As part of the 
crackdown, unofficial lay-by areas are being blocked and turned into grassy banks in another 
tactic to deter the criminals. 
 
Community Safety Consultation 
To support the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Strategic Assessment, an annual public 
consultation is undertaken to reach those that live and work within Buckinghamshire. This 
consultation helps guide what areas should be a priority for the CSP. The consultation was 
launch on Monday 5 September on the Your Voice Bucks website and is due to run for 6 
weeks, closing on Friday 16 October. The consultation will be shared across our community 
safety, corporate and internal communications channels. The results of the survey will be 

Page 42

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bucksdataexchange.org%2F&data=05%7C01%7CGail.Hudson%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7C919f6955d87c41de206208da8b46418e%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637975431106441461%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Eqa29MPfbjMJGX8z4PRykqM0yG61BpIuBZK6Qm%2B2AyE%3D&reserved=0
https://www.hestia.org/safe-spaces
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyourvoicebucks.citizenspace.com%2F&data=05%7C01%7CSarah.McBrearty%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7C8e9f52bc06874b2882cd08da79dfe3b2%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637956299738599064%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=VUe6plT3eN4TH9yVyeYzOroESgmImNsB7vRlcDjoEfE%3D&reserved=0


combined with an analysis of all crimes that happen in the county to help Safer Bucks set 
priorities for the year. 
 
Aylesbury Town Centre – Anti-Social Behaviour Engagement Event 
On the Monday, 25 July 2022, Police, Street Wardens, and outreach workers from the One 
Recovery Bucks and Here4Youth Bucks carried out joint engagement work in Aylesbury 
town centre and local parks, Vale and Whitehill. 
 
During our patrols we engaged with street drinkers, providing information in relation to the 
Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO), and talking with groups of young people in the park 
areas.  People drinking alcohol within the PSPO area received warning notices to explain the 
alcohol prohibitions and 5 individuals were required to surrender their alcohol containers.  
We also engaged positively with groups of young people, handing out support cards with 
signposting to local youth services and further information on substance misuse. 
 
It was a successful afternoon, and another engagement day is planned for August. 
 
Resilience Service 
We continue to develop our community resilience framework and held our first community 
workshop with Chepping Wycombe Parish Council at the end of July. The workshop was well 
received by Parish Council Members, and we are awaiting a follow up with them. We have 
been engaging with Marlow Town Council as well to support them with the development of 
their Flood Plan.  
 
The Resilience Service website was launched four weeks ago with a range of new and 
updated information which includes the provision of various toolkits for residents and 
communities to develop their own plans with regards to resilience. To support this the 
Resilience Service have adopted the 30days in 30ways campaign with regards to working 
alongside other local authorities, and September is designated as Preparedness Month. We 
will therefore be running a number of different topics on the website on specific days 
throughout September. The Resilience Service will also have a presence at this year’s Bucks 
County Show to support the Council and engage with our communities to promote the 
Resilience Service with regards to emergency and contingency planning for communities 
and households.  
 
Community Boards 
As part of the Cabinet Member engagement with Community Board catch-up sessions have 
been held with each Chairman and Vice-Chairmen.  The Boards are operating well with 
positive feedback received in relation to the work undertaken by the Community Board 
team, how it is making a positive impact on Boards and how they operate. 
 
Community Board Managers have been able to turn to the main purpose of their roles 
which is to engage with their local 
communities to talk about their Community 
Board priorities and discuss with local people 
and organisations how they can help deliver 
those priorities.  Many projects are now 
completed with communities seeing the 
benefits from community board funding: 
 

Page 43

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/planning-for-emergencies/


A solar project at Spinfield School has seen pupils help install solar panels on the school roof 
with £15k funding from South West Chilterns Community Board.  The project will save c 289 
tonnes of carbon over 23 years, equivalent to planning c600 trees. 
 

Winslow & Villages Community Board attended the 
Winslow Show over the Bank Holiday weekend.  The 
Community Board stall was very busy with lots of 
interest in the Board with people also learning more 
about the projects the Board has supported.  On 
display at the show was the Winslow wheelchair 
vehicle which received funding from the Community 
Board alongside other local funders.  The vehicle 
provides 
access for 

electric wheelchair users and is used daily, including 
allowing a resident to return to full time 
employment, attendance at hospital appointments 
and even supporting family members to attend 
events such weddings that they may not have 
otherwise been able to get to.  Below is the 
accessible vehicle and the community board team 
at the show. 
 

North West Chilterns Community Board has provided 
funding towards a play café which provides a safe space 
in the community for parents and guardians to gather. 
This enables people to build relationships with others in 
a similar situation, making friendships and receiving 
appropriate support where needed, including 
signposting to other provisions within the community 
(debt support, parenting courses, food poverty support).  
Children and young people have been able to interact 

and engage with their peers in a safe environment and offer opportunities for children to 
learn key child developmental skills as they enter other early years environments. 
 
There have also been some excellent community engagement events held by the Boards - a 
5-day community event in Haddenham & Waddesdon which included the Board 
engagement event, as well as the Wendover Board community engagement event. 
 
Town and Parish Charter 
The Town and Parish Charter was agreed by Cabinet in July and has now been published on 
the Buckinghamshire Council website along with a link to a downloadable version for town 
and parish councils https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/town-
and-parish-charter/ . 
 
There has been an ongoing programme of work including engagement with local councils 
and members to create a document that articulates our commitment to partnership 
working and effective communication which will strengthen the relationship between all 
tiers of local government.  Alongside the charter itself, we have also produced an action 
plan we are now implementing. 

Page 44

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/town-and-parish-charter/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/town-and-parish-charter/


Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
During August we publish our Equality Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Annual Plan, detailing 
our delivery in this area between March 2021 and April 2022. We have also published our 
EDI Action Plan 2022-2023, highlighting our focus areas for development during the current 
financial year, including a variety of aspects aimed at improving how we interact and serve 
our less heard communities. On 2 July, staff from Buckinghamshire Council also walked in 
the London Pride parade, representing the Council and our community for the first time at 
such an event, sponsored by our partners Pinewood. 

Page 45

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-annual-report-2021/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-action-plan-202223/


Cabinet Member report – Culture and Leisure 
Councillor Clive Harriss 

 

 
Cllr Clive Harriss – Cabinet Member Report – September 2022 
 
Culture  
Open Weekend this year saw lots of creative and cultural opportunities 
themed to trees! There were tree stories, tree crafts, tree walks, tree 
dance, tree heritage, tree dreaming and journey sticks! Activities took place 
all over the county from Buckingham in the North to Iver in the South. 
Visitors were able to join Discover Bucks Museum, Wycombe Museum, 
Garsington Opera, Chiltern Open Air Museum, Hughenden Manor, 
Buckinghamshire Archives or Milton’s Cottage for their events. There were 
lots of opportunities to discover something new, such as: storytelling 
events, backstage tours, painting with natural colours, walking tours 
around cultural content or photo walks, performances of songs and poetry readings.  
 
Our local museums and theatres provided some special summer activities including a 'Seaside 
Family Fun Day' at Wycombe Museum on 21 August as well as 'Discover and Make' activity 
sessions. The Discover Bucks Museum's 'Feel the Force' summer science festival ran from 25 July 
to 3 September, with over 20 hands-on interactive exhibits including an anti-gravity wheel, 
magnetic fields, whirlpools, windy city, magnetic pendulum and flying wing plus lots more fun 
science activities to discover around the museum.  
Whilst August is traditionally a quieter time for theatre performances, some family friendly 
activities were offered at the Wycombe Swan Theatre, including Cinderella storytelling and craft 
workshops in conjunction with the library and a Technical Masterclass Workshop for children. 
 
Play around the Parishes 
It has been a busy and hot summer for our Play around the Parishes team who were out and 
about taking play activities to parks around the county for children and their families to enjoy 
together. The Play Team visits were booked and paid for by Town and Parish Councils, with 21 
locations booking a total of 38 sessions. Activities included giant games, inflatables, construction 
toys, arts and crafts, and sports.   
 

Page 46



Country Parks, Parks and Play Areas  
The heatwave caused problems and risks for all parks services. This had a significant impact on 
trees throughout the county with trees dropping their leaves as a consequence of the lack of 
water. Other issues like ‘sudden limb drop’, where a tree can lose a large branch, also becomes 
more prevalent in these conditions. The teams also dealt with fire incidents as well as monitoring 
the impacts of reducing water supplies. 
 
Bedgrove Park, Heartlands Park, Higginson Park, Hughenden 
Park and Vale Park have all retained their Green Flag Awards. 
This is an annual award that recognises excellence in parks and 
green space management and is an acknowledgement of all the 
hard work put into these sites by our in-house and contracted 
grounds maintenance teams. See here for further details. 
 
 

Three of our parks in Aylesbury have benefitted from new play 
equipment being installed in recent months. Cottesloe Green, 
Haydon Hill and Walton Court have seen significant 
improvements to the play equipment. A formal opening took 
place at Haydon Hill on 4 August to coincide with Keep Britain 
Tidy’s national ‘Love Parks Week 2022’ resulting in some great 
local press coverage. See here for further details. Desborough 
Recreation Ground play area in High Wycombe is also 
undergoing major improvements, scheduled for completion 

shortly. 
 
Over the summer we partnered with the Lawn Tennis Association, Tennis for Free and local tennis 
clubs to offer free coach-led sessions for adults and children aged 12+ at three locations in the 
county – Desborough Recreation Ground, Bedgrove Park and Vale Park. The scheme is aimed at 
getting more people playing tennis and improving their physical and mental wellbeing.  
 
Leisure 
We are continuing to see positive levels of attendance across our leisure centres. The first phase 
of the car park at the Chilterns Lifestyle Centre, which is predominantly parking spaces for blue 
badge holders, is now available for use and the final stages of the project, including a new 
children’s play area to the front of the Centre, is due to be completed before the end of the year. 
Work to install a new soft play and sensory space in Chesham Leisure Centre continues to progress 
very well and is on course to open shortly. 
 
One of our leisure operators, Everyone Active, runs a national Sporting Champions Scheme which 
provides more than 1,000 up and coming athletes in the UK with free access to its 200+ leisure 
facilities across the country. A number of talented athletes in Buckinghamshire have been 
accepted on to the scheme and will gain much-needed support. Alongside free access to Everyone 
Active centres, Sporting Champions will also get the chance to receive valuable one-to-one and 
group mentoring sessions and guidance from some of the UK’s most influential sports stars. 
Olympic silver medallist, Colin Jackson CBE, will be working alongside the scheme’s impressive 
line-up of elite athletes featuring several Olympians and Paralympians including Lutalo 
Muhammad, Jennifer and Jessica Gadirova, Richard Kilty, Lauren Steadman, Kadeena Cox and 

Page 47

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/five-buckinghamshire-parks-awarded-coveted-green-flags/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/childrens-play-areas-benefit-from-219k-council-investment/


Maisie Summers-Newton whose experience and expertise will help to support athletes accepted 
on the scheme this year. 
 
Libraries 
On Friday 28 July, as part of our ongoing partnership with Action4Youth, BBC Radio 4’s Any 
Questions was broadcast live from The Junction at High Wycombe Library. Host, Ben Wright, 
oversaw a lively debate with questions posed by local residents, including one from Cllr Martin 
Tett, Leader of the Council, to the panel of Thangham Debbonaire MP, Jackie Doyle-Price MP, 
David Gauke and Ash Sarkar. The event was a huge success and another example of the benefits 
of the partnership between Action4Youth and the High Wycombe Library Team to expand the 
type of experiences that we can offer to local residents within our library space. 
 
After successfully securing funding, plans are progressing to transform Wendover Community 
Library into an inclusive, multi-use community hub that offers a single point of contact for local 
services. Buckinghamshire Libraries has begun the process of engaging with local groups, 
volunteers and the community with the design concept making sure the library will be more 
appealing, have additional flexible spaces and have greater visibility. The new library will also have 

facilities for a range of social, educational, 
health and cultural activities that promote 
community cohesion and wellbeing. The first 
Community Engagement drop-in day took 
place in mid-September with a further drop-in 
day scheduled for 22 October. Working with 
Buckinghamshire Culture, the new library will 
have an art installation to maximise the 
impact of the new design of the library 
building with an installation that is inspired by 

Wendover’s heritage and/or communities.  
 

Page 48



 
Wendover Library design concept 

Page 49



 

 

Cabinet Member report – Climate Change and 

Environment 
Councillor Gareth Williams  

 

South Waste Collection Service 

The waste collection service in the South of the county is delivered through a contractor with 

Veolia. As part of the agreed contract, Veolia implemented a re-organisation of the collection 

rounds from Monday 9th May. This re-organisation is expected to deliver a more effective and 

resilient waste service with fewer missed containers and collection rounds arranged more closer 

together to reduce the impact if a vehicle breaks down for example. We know that these bin 

collection changes have caused far greater than anticipated disruption in certain areas as crews get 

used to the new bin collection days and I apologise for the continued anguish that is being caused. 

The Council has been working extremely closely with Veolia to urgently improve the service to 

residents and additional collection crews, more supervisors, weekend collections and more call 

handlers in the Council’s Customer Service Centre are all in place.  Veolia have further built on their 

management and supervisory provision by bringing in an extra manager, 2 extra supervisors and an 

extra data / admin manager to expedite a return to better than BAU as quickly as possible. We 

recognise that there is still work to do to achieve a satisfactory service and the Council will continue 

to work with Veolia until the required service standards are being consistently achieved. 

 

Garden Waste Collection Service 

The Chargeable Garden waste collection service is due to commence in the former Wycombe area 

on 26 September 2022. Residents can begin signing up to the new service although the subscription 

will not start until 26th September 2022, residents can sign up, or find more information about the 

service at buckinghamshire.gov.uk/garden-waste. 

 

Fly-Tipping Enforcement Team Update: 

‘Fly-Tipping remains a significant problem in Buckinghamshire.  Fly-tipping has fallen back from 

peak ‘Covid’ levels, but they remain at a level corresponding to a continuance from pre-Covid rising 

trend.  

Page 50



 

As of April this year, BC has recorded that of 188 such incidents 131 (69.7%) involved waste which 

was carried into Bucks from elsewhere (either commercially or otherwise).  79 of the incidents 

(42.0%) involved waste which was carried commercially – i.e. waste which would always have 

incurred a charge for deposit and recycling.  15 of the incidents (8.0%) involved one or more non-

household waste items which were not carried commercially.  Most of these incidents involved one 

or two chargeable items at most.  This leaves a total of 173 incidents (92.0%) where the waste was 

entirely unaffected by the charges introduced by BC in 2019. 

Buckinghamshire Council has successfully won £50,000 in external funding from DEFRA with which 

to target the cross border “imports” of waste which is fly-tipped in Bucks. Intelligent cameras have 

been installed in hot spot areas in the south of the county. In a bid to reduce the places where fly-

tippers can dump, the council has carried out work to build up grass banks at several locations. The 

work has been carried out by re-using 400 tonnes of inert (tested) soil that was illegally dumped 

previously elsewhere in Bucks’ 

The council has taken a zero-tolerance approach to fly-tipping for over a decade and has 

successfully prosecuted hundreds of offenders. It costs the council over £600k each year to clear up 

rubbish that has been illegally dumped on public land – money that could be spent on providing 

other much needed services to the county’s residents. 

Using £50k of funding from DEFRA (Dept for Environment, Farming & Rural Affairs), the new 

cameras can identify when a vehicle has left rubbish behind and in real time, will provide a video 

report of the incident to enforcement officers, including the registration of the vehicle, making it 

easier to identify and prosecute fly-tippers’ 

 

Archaeology Day  
As part of the national Festival of Archaeology event and Bucks Open Weekend, Buckinghamshire 

Council Heritage and Archaeology Team ran an Open Day on July 30th in North Marston. Residents 

of North Marston and visitors from much further afield enjoyed the family friendly activities and 

informative displays which also covered built heritage.  

Guided walking tours of the village in partnership with the Local history society were a huge success 

and helped to promote the Buckinghamshire local List Project. Guest exhibitors included the Young 

Archaeologists Club and Buckinghamshire Archaeology Society, and the Buckinghamshire Finds 

Liaison Officer, Edwin, was on hand to identify mysterious artefacts discovered in residents’ gardens 

– the star find was a large Palaeolithic hand axe!  

 

Solar Together 
A Buckinghamshire Solar Together scheme was launched on 9th May 2022. The aim of the initiative 
is to help residents and small business owner-occupiers interested in installing solar PV and battery 
storage (with an option for an electric vehicle charging point) receive offers for installing these 
measures that are up to 30% less than those typically provided by the market. Following a postal 
mailout to 151,340 addresses (identified as potentially being eligible for the scheme), there were 
6,990 registrations to the scheme. Installers, approved by IChoosr, competed (via a reverse auction 
process in summer 2022) to have their offer presented to registrants, and registrants received their 

Page 51



 

offers by 28th July 2022. As of 15th August 2022, over 950 offers have been accepted and it’s 
projected that the scheme will result in 675 tonnes of carbon emissions being saved per year. 
 
25% renewable 
As of 1 October 2022, 25% of the electricity we use will be purchased from renewable sources. This 
decision helps support the renewable generation sector, reduces emissions of greenhouse gases and 
other air pollutants, and our dependence on fossil fuels. The extraction, processing, and 
transportation of fossil fuels has various negative environmental impacts so this purchasing decision 
helps improve the Council’s environmental performance overall.  
 
This is an important step in supporting our commitment to address climate change and we will look 
to see this percentage increase in the coming years.   This current change is forecast to save nearly 
1,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year. 
 

Project Groundwater Update  
We have renamed our DEFRA funded Flood Innovation Resilience Project, GRACE as ‘Project 

Groundwater – Are You Flood Resilient?’.  The name change is in advance of our engagement work 

with communities and will help create a more accessible brand that conveys greater meaning than 

the acronym we’d been using to date.  We will shortly be launching a website and social media 

channels, plus a regular newsletter of updates.  We expect to begin engaging with the pilot 

communities in the new year, once our procurement process has been completed for the 

engagement delivery suppliers. 

 

Over the past few months significant progress has been made with the technical elements of the 

project, with initial reports out for review on the monitoring and flood alerts.  We will shortly also 

be issuing a report on resilience and the modelling outputs are nearing their first set of outputs.  

 

The Buckinghamshire Cloth Nappy scheme 

With the Councils objective of reducing the amount of refuse each household generates, we 

recently launched a scheme to encourage more parents to use reusable cloth nappies. 

 

• 5,543 babies were born in Buckinghamshire in 2020, each going through over 2,000 nappy 
changes in their first year, most of these are disposable nappies. 

• Research conducted by Real Nappies for London suggests those 5,543 babies will generate 
2,900 tonnes of disposable nappies in their first year alone! Costing the Council over £250,000 
to dispose of.  

• Whereas, if those babies wore reusable cloth nappies, they would only need 20-30 nappies 
from birth to potty! 

We have partnered with three Cloth Nappy Suppliers to offer residents in Buckinghamshire a £30 

voucher to spend with them on purchasing cloth nappies. The cost to the Council will be recouped 

through avoided disposal costs of disposable nappies. It is also helping residents make sustainable 

choices. 

 

Page 52



 

In the first three days of the scheme launching, we have had over 160 applications. We will 

continue to add more suppliers to offer a wider range and promote the scheme across the County. 

We are also working with a local nappy reusable cloth library to develop their service and support 

vulnerable families by subsidising their nappy loan charges. 

For more information visit www.recycleforbuckinghamshire.co.uk/nappyscheme 

 

Page 53

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.recycleforbuckinghamshire.co.uk%2Fnappyscheme%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cstephanie.sacco%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7Cc74cea73ad82468dafa908da812804c1%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637964306115346740%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=h9QWeahSBYzlh8s0q252yhQE8tB%2FALKnWSgNv4SLKH8%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 

Cabinet Member report – Health and Wellbeing 
Councillor Angela Macpherson 

 
 

Thames Valley Suicide Bereavement Service 
People bereaved by suicide often experience particularly intense shock and face specific challenges 
arising from the stigma around suicide. They are less likely to have support from family and friends 
compared with other people going through a bereavement, and suicide bereavement also leaves 
people at a higher risk of suicide themselves. The provision of support after a suspected suicide is 
critical to reducing the risk of suicide and improving the bereaved person’s mental wellbeing, and can 
also reduce the significant cost to the economy resulting from the impact on the lives of those 
bereaved. 
 
The latest three-year Buckinghamshire Suicide Audit is currently being finalised. However, during 
2017/19 there were 141 suicides in the county. Of these, 95 were men and 46 women, with the 
highest number of suicides from people aged 50-54, followed by the 18-24 year old age group.  
 
To improve suicide bereavement support across the Thames Valley, local councils 
(Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, and Berkshire) recently bid and have been successful in securing 
funding from NHS England. The funding to March 2024 will also provide additional capacity for 
Thames Valley Police to help them have initial conversations with those bereaved and make 
onward referrals to the Bereavement Support Service. 
 
The new service, run by Amparo Thames Valley, was formally launched on World Suicide Prevention 
Day, 10th September. The service is completely confidential and offers an online referral service 
seven days a week. Referrals are coordinated through a national team and are picked up within 24 
hours by a dedicated local team of three liaison workers in the Thames Valley. These liaison 
workers provide a range of support including: 
 

• immediate emotional and listening support 
• dealing with police and coroners 
• helping with media enquiries 
• preparing for and attending inquest 
• finding other appropriate, local wrap-around support services. 

 
  

Page 54



 

Simply Walks 20th Anniversary Volunteers’ Celebration 
 

 

On Friday 15th July, my Deputy Cabinet Member 
for Public Health, Cllr Zahir Mohammed, joined 
the Chairman of the Council at the Simply Walks 
20th Anniversary Volunteers’ celebration, to 
thank the 200+ volunteers who support the 
scheme. 

 
More than 70 Simply Walk volunteers enjoyed the ‘thank you’ picnic at Hughenden Manor.  The 
scheme includes 72 walks across the county every week and is wholly dependent on the volunteers 
who do everything from leading walks to behind-the-scenes organisation. 
Simply Walk began in 2002 and has grown year-on-year, attracting more than 500 walkers per week 
at peak times. The scheme is suitable for people of all ages and abilities, and in addition to 
improving physical health, the walks also offer the opportunity for people to socialise and boost 
their mental wellbeing.  More information can be found on the Council’s website: 
http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/simply-walk 
 
Combatting Drugs Partnership 
A new cross-government, 10-year national drugs strategy was published earlier this year, with the 
priorities of breaking drug supply chains, reducing the demand for drugs, and improving drug 
treatment and recovery services. 
 
Recent guidance has set out the expectation for all areas to have a multi-agency Combatting Drugs 
Partnership (CDP) to provide strategic oversight and drive action locally. Work has taken place with 
leaders from a range of organisations including the Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
the Probation Service to decide the local approach. As a result of these discussions, it has been 
agreed that the Combatting Drugs Partnership will cover the area of Buckinghamshire local 
authority and will be led by the Council’s Director of Public Health, Early Help and Prevention, Dr 
Jane O’Grady. Work is now underway to establish the membership and governance arrangements 
and to produce a local needs assessment. A Combatting Drugs Strategy and action plan will be 
developed by partners in autumn/winter 2022. 
 
Social Care Reforms Update 
The Operational Guidance to implement a lifetime cap on care costs was updated in July 2022.  
Whilst most of the guidance related to the technical aspects of implementing the reforms, in 
response to lobbying, the Government has decided to take a staged approach to the 
implementation of Section 18(3) of the Care Act 2014.  This Section of the Act says that if an adult 
has eligible care needs under the Act, they can ask the council to arrange their care even if their 
financial resources are above the financial limit. 
 
The change to the Guidance means that for the first 18 months of the reforms, only people entering 
residential care after October 2023 will be able to ask the council to arrange their care.  Those 
people who were already in care at October 2023 will have to wait until April 2025 to ask for the 
council to arrange their care. 
 

Page 55

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ftracking.news.buckinghamshire.gov.uk%2Ftracking%2Fclick%3Fd%3D9kyWQyT4zRXtwC9GPnJ-GONUEVMacXyvVVBT2frW1PvzfJBb5yvgeApqdYhaoRmdAeMZmZXZ8g3nzc_dpQGdgtLsnjTMewIQIjcJ9sIOTk06YLcbVMibs-3jHxGDoOCvOpTUuxib49z2Dmm4xdwJe9M_Oh4hF49Y8G6hpN8MX6_C0&data=05%7C01%7Cclare.capjon%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7Caad7eb2850674cf5645108da699104d6%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637938368815070221%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=OshXva9k3f10L8fAYMMMFQbUMtLJpvd%2FgGpZ%2Bkr30lo%3D&reserved=0


 

The Council continues with its preparations for the implementation of the reforms, particularly 
focussing on modelling expected increases in demand, the workforce requirements to meet the 
demand and on delivering the Fair Cost of Care exercise and Market Sustainability Plan to the 
Department of Health and Social Care by 14th October. A briefing for all Members on the reforms is 
being scheduled. 
 
Illegal Tobacco Campaign 
In a collaboration across the Health & Wellbeing portfolio and the Homelessness & Regulatory 
Services portfolio, this summer saw the launch of the Illegal Tobacco campaign.  I was delighted, 
with Rob Butler MP, to add my support to the campaign roadshow which was held in High 
Wycombe market on 2nd August and in Aylesbury market on 3rd August. 
 

 
 

referrals were made to the Live Well Stay Well 

The Illegal Tobacco Roadshow included Pippa the 
sniffer dog and her handler from Wagtails, and 
was aimed at encouraging residents to 
anonymously report any intelligence they had on 
the selling of local illegal tobacco. Pippa and her 
handler provided demonstrations on the day and 
staff from Live Well Stay Well, the Council’s public 
health team and the Buckinghamshire and Surrey 
trading standards service were available for 
residents to speak with. Across both days, 99 
members of the public talked to the team (84 
adults and 15 young people/children) and 7 
service. 

 
Following on from the roadshows, the trading standards service visited a number of locations 
across the Aylesbury and High Wycombe area and seized a significant amount of illegal/illicit 
tobacco and vapes, with a view to prosecution. Pippa and her handler were instrumental in theses 
visits and guided trading standards officers to the sophisticated hideaways. 
 
Stoptober Campaign 
The national Stoptober campaign is back in October, which encourages smokers to try and stop 
smoking. This year’s theme is ‘You’ve got what it takes to quit this Stoptober’ and specifically 
targets smokers aged 25 to 50 from more deprived socio-economic groups. The Public Health team 
are working with partners to design the national promotional materials and make them local to 
Buckinghamshire. By doing so it is hoped that more smokers will use our commissioned service Live 
Well Stop Well to stop smoking. There will be a promotional toolkit and leaflets which will be 
shared with partners within the next few weeks. 
 

  
 
  

Page 56



 

Integrated Care Partnerships 
The Health and Care Act 2022 introduced significant changes to the local NHS structures.  Making 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS) statutory bodies, the Act also made it a requirement for each ICS to 
have an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).  The purpose of the Partnership is to improve the general 
health and wellbeing of the local population through the delivery of a new Integrated Care Strategy. 
 
All Integrated Care Partnerships are joint committees between the ICS and all local authorities that 
fall within the System’s area.  Although Buckinghamshire primarily falls within the Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care System, a small part in the north of the county also 
falls within the Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes Integrated Care System. 
 
With representation on both Partnerships, the Council can make sure that the health and wellbeing 
needs of Buckinghamshire residents inform the planning of health and care services at the 
Integrated Care System level. 

Page 57



 

 

Cabinet Member report – Education and Children’s 

Services 
Councillor Anita Cranmer  

 

Ofsted Annual Conversation 
 

Under the Inspecting Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) inspection framework, Ofsted 

arrange an annual conversation with every local authority. 

In Buckinghamshire, the annual conversation was held in July 2022 and in preparation for the meeting 

with Ofsted, the Service shared the latest self-assessment and performance data for both children’s 

social care and education. Ofsted use the annual conversation as an opportunity to scrutinise 

performance, service development and progress on any actions set at the last inspection. This assists 

Ofsted in determining the timing and scope of any subsequent inspection activity.  

Feedback received from Ofsted at the end of the annual conversation was positive and the Service’s 

self-assessment was accepted in full.  

In line with the current framework, the Service anticipates receiving a focused visit which will 

evaluate an aspect of service, a theme or the experiences of a cohort of children, towards the end of 

2022. 

 
School Results  
 
GCSE and A level results were released to students during August 2022. Many of our local secondary 

schools have passed their results information onto the Council for analysis; however, we do not hold 

a full picture. Based on the results shared with us, the unvalidated position across both types of 

assessment indicates that Buckinghamshire pupils have performed well, and their results are higher 

than both the emerging national picture and also against the 2019 data which was the last time that 

students sat written exams. The Department for Education will release the full validated results in 

October 2022. 

 
Buckinghamshire Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) Summer activity programme 

I am very pleased to update members that thanks to our Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) 

programme, thousands of children from low-income families across Buckinghamshire have enjoyed 

Page 58



 

a packed summer of free, high-quality activity clubs, with 16,000 holiday club places on offer across 

the county. 

Activities enjoyed by children ranged from football, dodgeball and a host of other sports, through to 

theatre workshops, cooking classes and coding. A healthy meal has also been provided at every 

session. 

The HAF programme is delivered by experienced holiday club providers and has operated in 40 

locations across Buckinghamshire this summer, covering five weeks of the school summer break.  

The programme is targeted to school-aged children in Reception to Year 11 inclusive who receive 

benefits-related free school meals. The Council has also been able to offer up to 15% of the overall 

HAF programme places to other children who are not eligible for benefits-related free school meals 

but who could benefit from HAF club provision; these groups include looked after and previously 

looked after children, young carers and children with an education, health and care plan. We have 

been working with service area teams, our schools and our HAF club providers to identify and invite 

children from these additional groups to attend. 

We know that the long summer school holiday can be a difficult time for some families. I am pleased 

that we have supported local children and families to access free, high-quality holiday clubs, eat a 

healthy meal at every session, learn about good nutrition and physical health – and just as 

importantly, the opportunity for children and young people to have fun and make new friends. 

 

Looked After Children in Buckinghamshire Celebration Event 

On Monday 1 August 2022, the 10th Annual Celebration Event for Looked After Children in 

Buckinghamshire was held at Wycombe Museum. 

After two years of being unable to host this key event due to covid restrictions, which we know has 

been hard for everyone but perhaps particularly challenging for children in our care, it made it even 

more satisfying to see our young people and their carers having such a fantastic day together. The 

event was attended by over 75 children and young people and 50 carers, and we also welcomed a 

number of our local councillors to join in the celebrations, which included activities such as dance 

workshops, inflatables, mobile zoo, face painting, T-shirt printing, drumming, mocktail making and 

creative arts. 

All the children were individually nominated by their social workers and/or foster carers to recognise 

how amazing they are, something we all need reminding of sometimes - and they were presented 

with a certificate to recognise this. Carers, young people and staff have all commented what a brilliant 

event it was and how much it means to the children and young  

 

School Places for Ukrainian Children 

As a Council, we have been working very hard to support families that have arrived from Ukraine, 

and ensuring their children have access to a school place forms a significant part of the Council’s 

offer. By the end of the 2021/22 academic year in July, we had received and processed in year 

Page 59



 

applications on behalf of 305 Ukrainian pupils of which only 1 was still pending at the end of the 

academic year.  

At the time of compiling this data we have received and processed 43 applications for September 

2022 entry, 42 allocations have been made and just 1 is pending a school place offer. More than 100 

schools have now admitted, or will be admitting, Ukrainian children and young people with 25 schools 

admitting four or more children.  

The response from the school community has continued to be exceptional, and as we start the new 

school term, I am confident that any further new arrivals will be offered the same access to high 

quality education and childcare in Buckinghamshire as our long-term residents. 

I am enormously grateful to our family of schools for supporting children arriving from Ukraine as 

they adjust to their new life and their continued hard work to ensure that children access education 

as soon as possible following their arrival. It is our commitment to ensure that all Ukrainian children 

in the UK are offered the same access to high quality education and childcare as UK citizens.  

 

The Assessed and Supported Year in Employment Academy  

In 2019, the Service created a Social Work Academy to enable the Council to develop Newly Qualified 

Social Workers (NQSWs) through their Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE). The ASYE 

Academy provides a protected and supported environment for the induction and training of NQSWs 

which helps:  

• Recruit and retain staff.  

• Drive up the standards of social work practice and in turn outcomes for children and young 
people.  

• Enable NQSWs to understand the child / young person’s journey through our organisation.  

NQSWs are based within the Academy for their first 6 months where they complete a thorough 

induction and all essential and mandatory professional and systems training. They will also have 

worked through a range of more complex cases and tasks, with intensive supervision and support. 

The training follows the young person’s journey through the Service with a strong focus on best 

practice and the voice of the child or young person. Managing a small caseload alongside training 

helps NQSWs to effectively integrate learning. At the end of the first 6 months or when the NQSW is 

ready, they then join their permanent front-line team for the remaining 6 months of the ASYE with 

continued support through the programme. This support includes regular reflective supervision from 

an Advanced Practitioner who has demonstrable skills and experience in developing others. The focus 

is on learning and developing, critical reflection and supporting the NQSW to understand the links 

between theory and practice.  

Between 2019 and August 2022, 42 of the 60 NQSWs that have been through the Academy remain 

within the service. Given the success and in order to alleviate some of the significant challenge in 

recruiting high quality social workers, the Academy has recently been expanded to support a further 

60 newly qualified social workers by April 2023.  

Page 60



 

Having a permanent workforce and reducing reliance on agency staff is one of the main priorities for 

the Service and achieving this will no doubt lead to better service outcomes for children and young 

people as well as reducing expenditure.  

 

 

Page 61



 

 

Cabinet Member report – Homelessness 

and Regulatory Services 
Councillor Mark Winn  

 

Gypsy & Traveller Service  

Buckinghamshire continues to see low encampment numbers this year, and there may be several 

reasons for this. COVID 19 infection levels still remain high, which has inevitably had an effect on 

unauthorised encampments (UEs) as families do not want to put vulnerable relatives at risk by 

frequent travelling. The recent enactment of the Police Crime Sentencing and Courts Bill 2022 is 

also likely to have resulted in a reduction of UE numbers. The new legislation was recently tested 

when a large UE at the Oakgrove School field in Milton Keynes saw the Travellers refuse to leave, 

resulting in the Police making several arrests, alongside seizing vehicles and caravans. This will 

undoubtedly echo around the gypsy and traveller community that any form of anti-social behaviour 

will not be tolerated in Buckinghamshire and the surrounding areas. 

Buckinghamshire remains a target for groups involved in waste crime with a recent encampment at 

an abandoned pub in George Green, South Bucks. Although this was on private land, the 

Buckinghamshire Gypsy and Traveller Service (BGTS) team visited and gathered evidence to follow 

up on duty of care failures and possible future prosecutions.  

BGTS have a good working relationship with Inspector Stuart Hutchings who heads up the recently 

formed Thames Valley Police Rural Crime taskforce. This team aims to improve partnership working 

at an early stage and use technology such as drone footage to capture crimes that are in progress, 

which will result in earlier arrests and seizure of vehicle/property etc., thus limiting damage caused 

and landowner clear up costs. 

Work is ongoing to forge joint working protocols with both Thames Valley Police and the 

Environment Agency to deliver positive outcomes through a partnership approach. The small but 

highly experienced team in the Gypsy and Travellers service always deal with any illegal 

encampments that occur in a sensitive but ultimately efficiently in line with current legislation, and 

they work in partnership with Thames Valley Police.   

 

 

 

Page 62



 

Trading Standards 

Illegal Tobacco 

Illegal tobacco remains a high priority for the Service and since the last report we have been 

working with Public Health on a campaign to highlight the dangers and issues with illegal tobacco. 

This included encouraging people to report sellers and together we ran two public roadshows (in 

High Wycombe and Aylesbury) at the beginning of August. The tobacco detection dog, Pippa, was 

there to show off her skills. [do we have a pic of Pippa]? 

 

Pippa the tobacco detection dog (from Surrey News - Surrey CC) 

 

Following up on intelligence, Trading Standards carried out a further operation and found and 

seized in total nearly 2,000 packs of 20 cigarettes and over 5Kg of hand rolling tobacco at three 

shops in Aylesbury and High Wycombe. Some of the tobacco was hidden in sophisticated hides 

using electromagnets to seal the tobacco away from a visual inspection. Pippa was quite adamant 

that tobacco was present which helped our officers and her handler to be tenacious in looking for 

the hidden storage. In one shop there was a store hidden behind wall shelving that could only be 

accessed by operating the electromagnets. Another was stored in the top of a freezer unit, again 

only accessible by finding the means to operate the electromagnets. Investigations into these 

premises are ongoing. 

Illegal Vapes and Underage Sales 

Vaping, both from the perspective of under 18s buying vapes and the safety/compliance of vape 

products used by adults, continues to be a concern. All complaints received about specific premises 

are followed up with advice to the shop. Test purchasing is also being undertaken to identify sellers 

who are ignoring the rules, although we are pleased to report that during the last test purchasing in 

August no sales were made to our under-age volunteer. On the recent operation looking for illicit 

tobacco, officers also seized nearly 500 bottles of illegal vape fluid.  

Since last autumn the UK has seen its largest Avian Influenza / Bird Flu outbreak, with over 130 

confirmed cases in poultry / captive birds across the country. We are pleased to note that 

Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (Animal & Plant Health Agency) has now 

assessed the risk to domestic and commercial flocks as low and lifted the Avian Influenza 

Prevention Zone (which required enhanced bio-security measures since last November) for poultry 

and captive birds from 16 August.  

Page 63



 

Licensing Services 

Fee harmonisation work across the legacy areas continues with recent approval of the 

harmonisation of fees for animal licensing, following the presentation of a report to Licensing 

Committee on the 26th July 2022. The new fees come into effect from the 29th August 2022 and will 

provide a consistent charging regime across the council area that more effectively covers the cost 

of delivering the service.  

On the 27th September 2022 the Licensing Service will be running online training sessions for town 

and parish council clerks and councillors. The training will focus on how to review and make 

representations and comments on alcohol and entertainment licence applications made under the 

Licensing Act 2003. Buckinghamshire Councillors are very welcome to attend these sessions. Please 

contact Licensing@Buckinghamshire.gov.uk for more information. 

The provision of a new single back-office system for the Licensing Service has been approved. This is 

an important change for the staff within the Service as well as for our customers and will mean that 

we are able to work more effectively and consistently across the council area. A single back–office 

system is already in place for taxi licensing, and we hope to have all other areas of the Service 

migrated to the new system by the end of February 2023. As part of this work, we will be 

introducing more online integrated front end-application forms for customers and the ability to 

check the status of applications, upload documents and contact the service easily. 

We have recently made changes to the way we administer enhanced disclosure barring service 

(DBS) checks for taxi licensing by outsourcing this work to an approved provider. This enables 

applicants to apply for and access DBS checks online at a time that is convenient to them. Once the 

check is received, they can then apply for their licence with all the information required to do so. 

Adopting this approach means that the Service can more quickly process licence applications, 

providing a better service for the customer. We are also working to implement ‘webchat’ alongside 

the other established ways to contact the service so that we can support our customers in a way 

that suits them. 

A key decision on increasing hackney carriage tariffs (the maximum fares that can be charged to 

passengers) was taken on the 26th July 2022. The recommendation to increase tariffs reflects the 

significant increases in fuel prices experienced across the transport sector in recent months. No 

representations were received during the statutory advertisement period and the new tariffs came 

into effect on the 18th August 2022 (note: the Council does not have any statutory powers to set 

private hire vehicle fares/tariffs). 

Cemeteries & Crematoria Services 

The new Penn Road Cemetery in Hazlemere was formally opened on the 6th July 2022 and is now 

providing burial services. The cemetery, which was funded from High Wycombe Town Committee 

special expenses funds, operates alongside High Wycombe Cemetery as part of a combined 

cemetery provision, primarily serving the unparished area of High Wycombe.  

 

Page 64

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/business/business-licences-and-permits/animal-licences/
mailto:Licensing@Buckinghamshire.gov.uk
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=812
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/births-deaths-marriages-and-civil-partnerships/deaths-and-inquests/cemeteries-and-crematoria/find-a-cemetery-or-crematorium/penn-road-cemetery/


 

 

Opening Penn Road Cemetery 

 

Work continues on the £2.3 million capital improvement programme (funded from crematoria 

reserves) to replace the 3 aging cremators at Chilterns Crematorium in Amersham, with 

construction activity due to continue until March 2023. Two of the three cremators have now been 

replaced and are operational, with the final cremator due to be installed by the beginning of 

November 2022. All works are being carried out on the site alongside our normal Service activity 

with any potential impacts to our customers carefully managed and mitigated. As part of the 

project works additional abatement plant for nitrogen oxide will be installed which is over and 

above current statutory requirements, supporting the Councils key priority to improve the 

environment and tackle climate change. 

 

Penn Road Cemetery 

 

 

Page 65

https://www.chilternscrematorium.co.uk/article/11555/Replacement-of-cremators-and-Hampden-Chapel-refurbishment


 

Housing 

We have seen a significant upturn in the number of rough sleepers across Buckinghamshire during 

the summer period. This was anticipated due to the end of the winter / Omicron emergency 

accommodation arrangements and the improved weather.  

The number of verified rough sleepers rose from 25 at the end of May 2022 to 45 at the end of June 

2022. Subsequently, significant efforts from statutory and voluntary agencies working with rough 

sleepers helped to reduce this number to 16 at the end of July 2022.  

The situation remains fluid and we continue to see a significant proportion of rough sleeping clients 

who have high, multiple and complex needs which makes it very difficult for the Council or its 

partners to secure safe and appropriate accommodation for them.  

The Council continues working with its partners in the statutory and voluntary sectors (including 

the Council-funded Rough Sleeper Outreach service operated by Connection Support) to engage 

with rough sleepers and, where possible, move them off the streets and into accommodation.  

 

Opening Ardenham House move on accommodation for former rough sleepers 

 

Significant Pressures on the Housing Service 

The overall demand for homelessness advice and support from the Council remains high with 

applications continuing to exceed pre-pandemic levels. June and July 2022 saw approximately 400 

homelessness applications per month (compared to a pre-pandemic average of 322 in a typical 

month).  

 

At the end of July, the Council had 355 homeless households placed in temporary accommodation 

(this compares to an average number of 225 pre-pandemic). We anticipate that these high levels of 

demand will continue, due to factors including cost of living pressures on households and the 

limited affordable housing options in Buckinghamshire. In addition, some private landlords are 

choosing to end tenancies or leave the market following the impact of the pandemic.  

Page 66



 

Similarly, there continues to be a very high demand for social housing tenancies via the Council’s 

Bucks Home Choice scheme. Overall, as at 31 July 2022 we had 5,859 households registered on the 

scheme (either live or pending applications) with approximately 480 new applications being 

received per month (based on May-July 2022). The demand for social housing continues to 

significantly exceed supply. To illustrate this, to date in 2022 we have let 1,076 new tenancies via 

Bucks Home Choice at an average of 154 lettings per month. 

Following the Council’s adoption of the Affordable Housing Position Statement by Cabinet on 10 

May 2022, a workshop was hosted in July with local Registered Provider partners to review current 

partnership working arrangements and look at how we can maximise affordable housing delivery 

together going forward. The findings from this workshop are being developed into an action plan.  

The Council continues to operate a significant programme of DFGs (Disabled Facilities Grants) to 

support adaptation works. As at 31 July 2022, 430 DFG requests were on our books. 

Environmental Health 

 

Officers continue to make progress towards the Food Standards Agency ‘Recovery Road Map’ 

targets. Work has been undertaken with West Northants Council, Silverstone Circuit Ltd and local 

campsites on plans for the 2022 British Grand Prix and Moto GP which were held in July and 

August. Officers visited before the events looking at food safety and undertaking public safety and 

welfare checks at the campsites. 

To harmonise standards across the county, a report was taken to Licensing Committee in July 

regarding skin piercing by-laws. Committee agreed that the appropriate provisions of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 should be adopted and has recommended that 

full council adopts this recommendation.  

Officers continue to work with external partners, internal departments and community boards on 

air quality management. The annual technical annual status report has been submitted to DEFRA 

and work continues with the Major Projects Team on HS2 environmental issues.  Officers are 

currently working with Strategic Transport on responding to regional consultations and with the 

Climate Change Team on the Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy initiatives.  

Homes for Ukraine 

Environmental Health is leading on the Home Safety Checks which are required as part of the 

‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme. To date over 700 visits have been completed by officers and this is 

where the lion’s share of our resources have predominantly been focused since mid-March. Due to 

the sheer volume of work involved, extra support is being recruited into this area.   

The Government has published a White Paper on the reforms to the Private Rented Housing Sector 

and officers are currently reviewing the proposals to assess the implications. It appears that a 

requirement for a central database of private landlords is planned and also a requirement that the 

private rented sector meets the ‘Decent Homes Standard’. This standard that has been in place for 

social housing landlords for over 10 years. 

 

 

Page 67



 

Registration Service  

All appointments are now ‘face to face’ and customers have options to book appointments online 

or over the telephone. Medical Certificates of Cause of Death (which the certifying doctor needs to 

complete following a death) must still be scanned and emailed to the Registration Office from the 

GP surgeries and these are sometimes delayed despite reminders sent out by the General Register 

Office through the DHSC. These delays can impact on our KPIs for registering deaths within five 

days. 

So far, the service has had a very successful summer for ceremonies and staff are very busy 

covering bookings across the county. There was an increase of 44 wedding bookings May to 

September 2022 compared with 2021, which was a busy time in its own right compared with the 

previous years. 

The upcoming service review will reach the consultation stage mid-September with a proposed new 

structure and suggestions for changes to some of the current processes to improve efficiency. 

Coroner’s Service  

The service is currently at business as usual and we hope to have dealt with 90 inquests between 

mid-July and mid-September, one of these is a resource intensive jury case.  

We are hoping for a 1st October ‘go-live’ date with partners at Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust 

for the ‘WPC Portal’ - software which will allow for doctors to refer cases to the Coroner’s 

themselves. The service review is now at the ‘Design Stage’ and there is good process mapping in 

place to ensure a uniform service, more efficient processes, and high quality training tools for new 

staff. 

 

Page 68



 

 

Cabinet Member report – Planning and Regeneration 
Councillor Peter Strachan  
 

Local Heritage List 
Great progress has been made on the Local Heritage List with nearly 750 sites having been assessed 
in the past nine months, which is a huge achievement. Each site has to be visited, photographed, 
and assessed against our criteria, before being considered by an expert panel. We have 156 people 
registered on our Local Heritage List platform, nominating sites and enhancing records for us. 
Please do take a look and nominate any buildings or sites that you consider worthy of local listing: 
https://local-heritage-list.org.uk/buckinghamshire 

BNG SPD Adoption 
The Biodiversity Net Gain Supplementary Planning Document (BNG SPD) was adopted by Cabinet in 
July 2022. This is our first thematic, county-wide SPD, and will provide much needed guidance for 
developers, planners and the public on this emerging national requirement to improve our natural 
environment. 

‘Find out if you need planning permission’ service now live in Buckinghamshire 

A new online self-service planning tool has been launched that enables anyone in Buckinghamshire 
to check if an idea they have for a project is likely to be allowed under national permitted 
development rights or whether it may require planning permission. The service is part of a national 
pilot by the Department for Levelling Up, Communities and Housing (DLUCH) to improve submitting 
and processing planning applications. We are one of just three councils in the UK to offer this new 
online self-service planning tool. 

The new service works by doing a high-level check of the project against legislation and Geographic 
Information System (GIS) data to see if the project may fall under ‘permitted development’. The 
service also warns if other types of consent, such as prior approval, tree consent or listed building 
consent may additionally be required. 

This new service is available to use now on Buckinghamshire Council’s website and will make it 
easier for homeowners and planning professionals to determine the correct steps with their 
projects and it will also free up valuable resources within our Planning Team – enabling them to 
dedicate more time to projects that require planning permission. 

 

Page 69



 

Enforcement Update 
At the last Cabinet meeting, I explained that the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities published tables showing during the period April 2021 – April 2022, Buckinghamshire 
Council’s Planning Enforcement team were the highest performing authority outside of London in 
terms of issuing Planning Enforcement Notices. Following on from that, I can advise that the team 
were also the highest performing authority in the country, including London Authorities, in terms of 
issuing Breach of Condition Notices and in terms of being granted High Court Injunctions during 
that same period. 

Notwithstanding this data the team is also performing highly in relation to following up on 
previously issued Planning Enforcement Notices. I have the pleasure of regularly seeing reports 
from the team where compliance has been achieved following the expiration of a planning 
enforcement notice compliance period. These resolutions are regularly achieved following the 
intervention from our officers and is the part of the planning enforcement service that makes a real 
physical difference to our Council area and to our residents’ lives. 

In the meantime, our no-nonsense, firm but fair approach to dealing with alleged breaches of 
planning control continues to run through the heart of the service and continues to be delivered in 
a consistent way across the Council area. 

In July, I reported that in April 2022 the team undertook its first direct action (works in default) to 
undertake works to ensure compliance with a number of planning enforcement notices. In the 
meantime, part 2 of a 2-stage program has undertaken a further direct action to achieve 
compliance with other notices on the same site. Following on from this action the team has acted 
to seek to recover the costs incurred from the landowner and we are now focussing in on other 
sites in Buckinghamshire where more direct action is being pursued to achieve remedies where the 
landowners/occupants have failed to comply. 

The team’s performance and our general approach to dealing with breaches of planning control is 
making a real difference to the communities in which our residents live and should act as a warning 
and deterrent that Buckinghamshire is not the place to come if you intend to breach planning 
control. When we seek resolution we will use all the tools available to us to ensure a remedy is 
achieved. 

Local Plan update 
The Council continues to await further details from the Government in relation to amendments 
being made to the procedure that we will need to follow to produce a Local Plan, including process 
changes and timings. Recent national changes have thrown the progress of the Levelling Up Bill into 
a degree of uncertainty, we are continuing to make progress with the Local Plan. 

Our call for all sites closed on 11 September. The Planning Policy team have commenced the 
process of assessing the sites submitted in terms of their appropriateness, deliverability, 
sustainability etc. Whilst we maintain a strong Brown Before Green aspiration, we recognise that 
the Brownfield sites submitted are likely to under achieve the land that we anticipate we will need 
in order to meet the growth targets that we are likely to require. We continue to push government 
to make amendments to the standard methodology for calculating growth in our area and will keep 
a keen eye on how that as it develops over the coming weeks and months. 

 

Page 70



 

Supplementary Planning Documents Consultations 
On 5 September the Council commenced a 6-week public consultation on 3 Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPD). These key policy documents will help to set the way in which 
development will be undertaken in the future in the Buckinghamshire Council area and will 
contribute to shaping how developers will submit planning applications as well as being key policy 
documents for the Council to consider when determining the acceptability of a planning 
application. 

The 3 SPD’s relate to Affordable Housing, a Design Guide (both cover the North and Central 
Planning areas) and a development site allocated in the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (VALP) near 
Stoke Mandeville (known as AGT1). You can get involved and have your say by taking part in the live 
consultations which are running from 10:00 on Wednesday 7 September 2022 to 23:59 on 
Wednesday 19 October 2022. The Council will be holding public exhibitions on the SPDs at Stoke 
Mandeville Stadium on 26 and 27 September. More information can be found on the Council 
website and social media platforms or by attending the exhibition. 

Business Improvement District (BID) Update 
In my last update I reported that Buckinghamshire Council had arranged the ballots for a third five-
year term for the High Wycombe Town Centre Business Improvement District (HWBIDCo) and the 
creation of a new BID on Cressex Business Park – both of which achieved a yes vote. 

HWBIDCo achieved a yes vote on the 7 July with 86.9% in favour by number and 97.3% by rateable 
value (RV) – which is a 26 and 24 percentage point increase on the result achieved in 2017. Cllrs 
Mrs Lesley Clarke OBE and Cllr Tony Green are Board representatives. 

Cressex Business Park BID achieved a yes vote on the 14 July with 65% in favour by number and 
72% by RV – a credible result for a first time BID. Local Member Cllr Mrs Lesley Clarke OBE will be 
appointed as an 

Advisory Member to the new business-led BID Board. Both five-year BID terms will commence from 
the 1 October 2022. 

Page 71



 

 

Cabinet Member report – Transport 
Councillor Steve Broadbent  

 

Resurfacing 

July and early August is the key time for delivering our cost-effective 

surface dressing programme. Six schemes are complete, including the 

innovative use of “Golden Gravel” in Hambleden Village.  A seventh 

scheme is programmed to start shortly, with a further 18 preparatory 

schemes completed.  Eleven major resurfacing schemes are also now 

complete, and the annual micro-surfacing programme has 

commenced. 

 

 

 

Failed Roads Programme 

Agreed additional funding of £3M has allowed TfB to address advanced deterioration on a number 

of prioritised ‘Failed Roads’, with eight being delivered this year. To maximise value for money we 

are using an innovative in-situ recycling process on four suitable sites. The process pulverises the 

existing road, before mixing and binding it back together with cement additives to produce a 

strengthened layer. We then apply surface material to provide a good running surface, and to seal 

and protect the new road structure from water ingress. As well as cost reduction, the process has 

significant environmental benefit through the reduction of waste being generated from site and the 

re-use of existing road materials. Whilst each site is unique, typically there is approximately a 70% 

saving in CO2 when compared to the traditional asphalt based resurfacing approach.   

 

Gullies 

As of 26th August, 37.5% of all gullies have been cleansed (32,004 out of a gully asset of 85,393) 

with the programme on target for completion by end of March 2023. Across the County since April 

2022, over 2,000 defects have been attended to (including sections of blocked pipe, of varying 

length being defined as a ‘defect’), around 780 stuck covers and 360 broken/damaged covers have 

been identified and programmed to be released or replaced.  From April to the end of August 2022, 

Hambleden “Golden Gravel” Scheme 

Page 72



 

219 catchpits, 57 soakaways and 206 manholes have also been emptied with 24,180 meterage of 

drainage pipe jetted. 

 

Extreme Weather response 

The recent extreme heat events have led to some roads suffering with the 

bitumen “bleeding” to the surface. To counteract this, we have used granite 

dust, spread by gritters, to both minimise the bleed and maintain road 

safety. During the July heatwave (15 – 19th) a total of 10 roads were treated 

with granite road dusting with many more being constantly monitored for 

signs of melting.  A further 15 roads were dusted during the August 

heatwave (11 - 12th), with 3 of those being repeat visits from July.  In one 

case, the A4010 at Pedestal Roundabout, an emergency full re-surfacing 

scheme was undertaken due to the extent of the road surface temperature on the carriageway, 

with specialist contractors mobilised in very quick time to keep this key route open and safe. 

 

 

 

Fly Tipping  

TfB have been working closely with colleagues in the Waste Enforcement team in a move to reduce 

the places where fly-tippers have been known to dump, carrying out work to build up grass banks 

at several locations. This re-used 400 tonnes of inert (tested) soil that was illegally dumped 

previously elsewhere in Bucks. 

 

Moving Traffic Enforcement 

Good progress has been made with the implementation of MTE (Moving Traffic Enforcement).  The 

first cameras are on target to start being installed in December 2022.  This will benefit 

Buckinghamshire by reducing congestion, improving road safety, making roads safer and promoting 

active traffic and clean air policies.  The cameras will enforce a variety of restrictions including No 

right turn / No U Turn, No entry, box junctions, environmental weight restrictions, and school keep 

clears. 

 

  

Emergency re-surfacing on the A4010 during extreme heat 

Page 73



 

Rights of Way path volunteers 

Since 2015, a number of small, dedicated volunteer groups work 

regularly on the local rights of way network. One of these, known 

as rRIPPLE (Ramblers Repairing and Improving Public Paths for 

Leisure & Exercise) will shortly be installing their 300th gate 

installation in late September/early October. 

 

rRIPPLE undertake the work with the Landowner’s agreement, 

and with the support of Buckinghamshire Council usually 

supplying metal gates.  The group are now going out weekly to 

replace one or two damaged stiles with metal gates which are 

more user-friendly than the existing style structures. 

They also have a 'Donate a Gate' scheme which allows a donor to 

donate money to support the installation of a gate, which can be 

dedicated to a specific person or cause. Further information can 

be found here. 

 

 

 

HS2 and East West Rail 

Buckinghamshire Council remains committed to holding HS2 and EWR to account for the impact 

that the construction of these schemes is having on the local environment and on our residents and 

businesses.  Following robust Counsel advice, we believe we had strong and very valid reasons to 

challenge the decisions of the Inspector(s) in allowing lorry routes to be used which will have an 

enormous and detrimental impact on our local roads.  On 21 July, in the High Court, Sir Duncan 

Ouseley dismissed the appeals brought by Buckinghamshire Council to quash decisions made by the 

Planning Inspectors to allow four environmentally damaging lorry routes submitted by HS2 Limited 

in 2021. We are bitterly disappointed with the result but the decision to go ahead and take these 

appeals to the High Court was always the right thing to do for our residents and communities 

 

The High Court decision puts a further financial burden on us to provide more and more evidence 

when challenging anything HS2 does in our area. This is so unjust when our residents are already 

incurring the cost of a huge infrastructure project whose construction is causing disruption to a 

wide swathe of Buckinghamshire. We have now met with our legal representatives to discuss 

options and after careful consideration we have decided not to appeal the decision.   

 

 

 

 

Before 

 

After 

Gate installation in Oakley Parish 

Page 74

https://www.aylesbury-ramblers.org.uk/about-us/donate-a-gate


 

A41 Bicester Road Primary Public Transport Corridor 

Since September 2021 construction work has progressed at pace and despite prolonged spells of 

extreme weather during the summer, is on programme to be completed in October 2022. Following 

the successful completion of the commissioning process, a major milestone has been accomplished, 

with the new traffic signals at the A41/Jackson Road/Dickens Way junction going live on the 1 

September 2022. In conjunction with this activity, the temporary side road closures were also 

removed and we would like to thank residents for their patience during these periods of closure.  

Work to fine-tune the signal timings of the junction and help it adapt to traffic flows and patterns, 

so the junction runs as efficiently as possible, is now ongoing. Upcoming work will then focus on 

optimising the co-ordination of all traffic signals along the A41 corridor between the Paradise 

Orchard/Sir Henry Lee Crescent and the Jackson Road/Dickens Way junctions. Whilst road users 

have experienced some delays to journey times during construction, the phasing of work along with 

temporary traffic management arrangements have allowed for two-way traffic flows to be 

maintained along the A41 during peak times. Recent works have involved overnight working which 

has caused some disturbance to residents for which we apologise. To help inform local members 

and residents there are regular project e-bulletins and a project webpage linked here. Road users 

are also updated via the use of on-site electronic variable message signs. 

 

High Wycombe Transport Strategy and High Wycombe Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan 

As part of our remit to improve transport in Buckinghamshire, a draft High Wycombe Transport 

Strategy (HWTS) and a High Wycombe Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) have 

been developed. The HWTS vision is that “by 2050, High Wycombe will be among the best 

connected and most innovative towns in the Thames Valley, where all journeys, from start to finish, 

are low emission, seamless, and safe for all residents, businesses and visitors”. The document sets 

out a number of ambitious and high level potential interventions that could help us to achieve this 

vision over the short, medium and long term. The supporting LCWIP document focuses down on 

improving cycling and walking provision in High Wycombe. It outlines a future walking and cycling 

network within a 25 min cycling catchment and a prioritised programme of infrastructure 

investment. Both draft plans have been created through extensive engagement with various 

stakeholders including Members, Officers, the High Wycombe Town Committee and Community 

Board. Both draft documents are expected go out to public consultation on the 30th September 

and we invite feedback on all elements of the plans.  

 

School Transport for the new academic year 

The Client Transport team have been working hard to ensure around 7000 students receive the 

appropriate transport support to their needs. This work is completed in collaboration with 

colleagues in education to ensure that the needs of each child are treated with the utmost care. 

Our team of Travel Assessors have completed assessments for all EHCP (Education, Health and Care 

Plan) holders and Transport Officers have put in place suitable transport arrangements including 

Personal Transport Budgets where cost effective. The procurement of any new transport needed is 

underway. Parents/carers have been informed of arrangements ahead of the new term to ensure 

Page 75

https://www.buckscc.gov.uk/services/transport-and-roads/road-projects-and-improvement-schemes/a41-bicester-road-public-transport-corridor/


 

each family is familiar with timetables, the transport operator they have been assigned, and if 

required have received their bus pass. 

For those parent/carers who have purchased a spare seat on a council provided school bus, bus 

passes were issued before the start of term where payment was made on time. 

School transport | Buckinghamshire Council 

 

Demand Responsive Transport 

Demand Responsive Transport is a modern alternative to the traditional fixed and timetabled bus 

services. It is led by passenger bookings and flexibly routed.  This means it can serve harder to reach 

areas which do not have a traditional bus route and provide direct links to destinations that would 

normally require a change of buses. Passengers can get picked up and dropped off at a wide variety 

of locations beyond traditional bus stops and the service is easily accessible through an app with 

real time information on journey time.  

 

Contracts for the two Demand Responsive Transport pilot schemes have now been awarded. Arriva 

will be operating the Aylesbury scheme and Go-Ahead Carousel Buses the High Wycombe one.  

 

The pilot serve the High Wycombe area, including the communities of Downley, Loudwater, Booker, 

Sands and Wooburn Green, the “Pick Me Up” service (website here) allows passengers to book a 

bus to come to them when they like and take them directly to their destination. The Arriva Click 

service for Aylesbury area will launch later in the autumn. Local Member briefings took place in the 

first week of September for the Wycombe scheme and will take place in early October for 

Aylesbury.  The services will run with fares that are closer to local bus fares than taxi fares and with 

a greater flexibility to reach places that traditional buses cannot, and we are looking forward to 

these services developing. 

 

These pilots are funded by the Government’s Rural Mobility Fund and with an initial contract term 

of three years.  If these pilots are successful, they may become a more permanent fixture in county. 

 

£2 Bus Fare Cap 

The Department for Transport has recently announced an initiative to cap all bus fares in England to 

£2. 

See here for details of this announcement. 

 

Buckinghamshire Council is aware of this, but at this time have no detail about how this will be 

implemented or the terms of the scheme.  As such, it is not yet possible to definitively state the 

effect this will have on bus services in Buckinghamshire, however many fares with the main towns 

in our County are already under £2 per journey.  It may also have an impact on how we set the 

fares for the Demand Responsive Transport scheme.  We await further details on this and will 

update once this is known. 

Page 76

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools-index/school-transport/
https://www.pickmeupwycombe.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/2-bus-fare-cap-across-england-to-save-passengers-money


 

 

Leader Decisions Taken 

Information on decisions taken by the Leader since the last full Council agenda.  For an up-
to-date list of decisions taken and forthcoming decisions, please refer to the Council’s 
website – https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ 
 
18 Jul 2022 
 
L08.22 - Covid 19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 

 
The Leader APPROVED an increase in the percentage of CARF awarded from 20% to 100% 
as set out in the CARF Discretionary Rates Relief Policy Appendix A. 
 
 
This decision is being taken under the ‘special urgency’ provisions of the constitution to 
enable eligible businesses to make use of the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy before the cut-
off date of 30 September 2022. 
 
19 Jul 2022 
 
CO01.22 - Modern Slavery Statement 

 
The Leader AGREED the Modern Slavery Statement for Buckinghamshire Council 
 
3 Aug 2022 
 
TR08.22 - High Wycombe Transport Strategy and High Wycombe Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) Consultation 

 
The Leader: 
 
NOTED the work undertaken to develop the High Wycombe 2050 Transport Strategy and 
High Wycombe Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). 
 
AGREED that the draft High Wycombe 2050 Transport Strategy and High Wycombe LCWIP 
can progress to public consultation for a period of six weeks.   
 
26 Jul 2022 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 9

https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/


HR03.22 - Hackney Carriage Tariffs 
 

The Leader:  
 
considered the proposed amended hackney carriage fares set out at Appendix 2 and, 
APPROVED them for statutory consultation purposes 
 
28 Jul 2022 
 
TR04a.22 - Highway Safety Inspection Policy 

 
The Leader:    
 
AGREED that the Highway Safety Inspection Policy, updated to support Buckinghamshire 
Council’s aims in its Corporate Plan (2020-2023), is approved 
 
 
Please note that the report and policy have been updated with visible amendments, to 
clarify that response times are in working days. 
 
29 Jul 2022 
 
TR20.22 - Fleet Trading Account budget 

 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, on behalf of the 
Leader:  
  
AGREED the Fleet Trading Account budget for 2022-23 in line with current Financial 
Regulations 
 
29 Jul 2022 
 
TR21.22 - Tingewick Road Area of Buckingham 

 
The Leader: 
 

A. APPROVED the making of the following order to reduce the speed limit to 40 mph 
on Tingewick Road and Ring Road (in the areas outlined in a statutory 
consultation).  This is in line with Police and Network Safety team 
recommendations, which are in line with the national government guidance 
issued by the Department for Transport. 
 

B. AGREED that the reduction to 40mph is supplemented with the following 
additional; measures to encourage driver adherence: 

 
• Centre hatching 
• 40mph roundels 

Page 78



• Gateway style features (subject to site survey and feasibility) 
• Refresh the existing road lines 

 
C. AGREED that the respondents to the Statutory Consultation be informed of the 

decision. 
 

D. AGREED that Speed data and Non-Motorised User (NMU) surveys are undertaken 
on Tingewick Rd at an appropriate point in the future, when the development 
work completes and occupancy is sufficient to provide a true representation of 
NMU and motorised vehicle use as a result of the developments. This will provide 
and accurate representation of NMU numbers, vehicle flow and speed. Should 
this data align with a further reduction in speed limit appropriate measures 
should be implemented 

 
 
Please note that resolution D is an additional resolution which does not appear in the report 
recommendations. 
 
29 Jul 2022 
 
FR04.22 - Temporary staffing contract award 

 
The Leader: 
 
AGREED that Provider A is awarded the contract for temporary agency, interim and 
specialist contracts for a period of 3 years + 1 to commence on 3rd September 2022. 
 
HR to work with Provider A to ensure we are the customer of choice to provide a good 
supply of high-quality candidates. 
 
3 Aug 2022 
 
TR22.22 - Putlowes Waiting Restrictions 

 
The Deputy Leader, on behalf of the Leader: 
 

a) Considered the feedback received at Statutory Consultation. 
 

b) APPROVED the making of the Traffic Regulation Order as set out in this report, for 
the installation of a ‘No waiting at any time’ restriction along Putlowes 
Road from the A41/Putlowes Road junction to the Waddesdon Greenway 
access. 

 
4 Aug 2022 
 
TR23.22 - Ivinghoe Double Yellow Lines – Parking Restrictions 

 

Page 79



The Deputy Leader on behalf of the Leader AGREED after considering the feedback 
received at the Statutory Consultation:- 
  
a) To authorise the making of the Traffic Regulation Order as set out in the report, for the 
installation of ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restrictions at High Street, Ivinghoe. 
  
c) That responders to the Statutory Consultation be informed of the decision, and to 
implement the traffic regulation order and related works. 
 
10 Aug 2022 
 
PR03.22 - D-AGT1 Aylesbury Garden Town - South Aylesbury - Supplementary Planning 
Document 

 
The Deputy Leader, on behalf of the Leader: 
 
APPROVED for public consultation the Vale of Aylesbury Plan – D-AGT1 Supplementary 
Planning Document, subject to the following additional modifications: 
 

• Access points on the keys to the illustrations labelled ‘potential’ 
• The infrastructure table in section five for Highways has been modified: ‘including 

link road improvements’ to ‘including link roads’. 
 
 
The above modifications are highlighted in the final additional row of Appendix 2 
 
19 Aug 2022 
 
TR25.22 - Ivinghoe Freight Strategy - Weight Restriction 

 
The Deputy Leader, on behalf of the Leader: 
 

a. AUTHORISED the implementation of the Heavy Goods Vehicles Weight Restriction 
Zone (or Ivinghoe Area Freight Zone), as presented in the Statutory 
Consultation. 
 

b. To implement the Weight Restriction detailed in this report, AUTHORISED the 
making of the relevant Traffic Regulation Order (TRO). 

 
22 Aug 2022 
 
TR24.22 - Abbey Barn Lane Improvement Scheme 

 
The Deputy Leader, on behalf of the Leader:  
 

1. AGREED to stop the Abbey Barn Lane Improvement Scheme (ABLIS) 
 

Page 80



 The Deputy Leader, on behalf of the Leader NOTED: 
 

1. Ongoing dialogue with Homes England 
 

2. Stopping the project will have incurred c£2m expenditure, fully funded from 
external sources 

 
3. If the project is stopped, the Council would look at alternative ways in which the 

£2.5m of Abbey Barn South S.106 funding could be used to mitigate traffic 
impacts in the local area 

 
5 Sep 2022 
 
HW04.22 - Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes Integrated Care Partnership 

 
The Leader: 
  

1.                                 AGREED to the establishment of a joint committee for the Bedfordshire, 
Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) Integrated Care Partnership and approve 
its Terms of Reference, in accordance with Section 26 of the Health and 
Care Act 2022. 
  

2.                                 AGREED the appointment of Cllr Angela Macpherson, Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, as the Buckinghamshire Council 
representative on the BLMK Integrated Care Partnership. 

 
 
 
 
For further information please contact Ian Hunt on 01494 421208 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Harmonisation of skin piercing registration requirements and model Byelaws for skin piercing activities
	Appendix 1 Model Byelaws Bucks Council

	7 Reports from Cabinet Members
	CM Reports - September 2022 Council meeting Leader.pdf
	CM Reports - September 2022 Council meeting.pdf
	Culture and Leisure - Cllr Clive Harriss Final.pdf
	Cabinet Member report – Culture and Leisure

	Planning and Regeneration - Peter Strachan.pdf
	Cabinet Member report – Planning and Regeneration



	9 Report for information - Key Decisions Report



